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Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

Financial Results and Business Review

| would like to report the audited results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2020. During the year, the Group recorded a profit from operations
before valuation changes in investment properties of HK$477.0 million
(2019: HK$499.8 million) and a loss attributable to equity shareholders of
HK$912.9 million (2019: a profit of HK$148.5 million). The loss was mainly due
to the net valuation losses on investment properties of HK$1,306.3 million
(2019: HK$266.0 million) which outweigh the profit from operations. The
valuation losses will only affect the accounting profit or loss but not the cash
flows of the Group. Details of the financial results and business performance

and development are set out in the Directors’ Report on pages 56 to 72.

Dividends

The Board is pleased to recommend a final dividend of HK$0.25 per share
for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$0.57 per share). As the
Company paid an interim dividend of HK$0.56 per share during the year
(2019: HK$0.58 per share), the total distribution will be HK$0.81 per share
for the year (2019: HK$1.15 per share).

Annual General Meeting
The annual general meeting of members of the Company will be held on

Thursday, 10 September 2020.

Acknowledgement
Finally, on behalf of the Board, | wish to thank all our staff for their devotion
and dedication, and would like to thank our professional advisors and our

members for their support in the past year.

Cheong Hooi Hong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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Properties

EZ A

iISQUARE

iISQUARE is located in the heart of Tsim Sha Tsui at the intersection of
Nathan Road and Peking Road. It is the first one-stop shopping and
entertainment complex linked to Tsim Sha Tsui MTR station. This complex
provides 56,000 square metres of space comprising a shopping podium,

cinema box and tower.

The podium is a vibrant hub for world-class fashion and lifestyle brands,
complemented by five grand cineplexes, including a 458-seat digital IMAX
theatre. ISQUARE also features fine-dining restaurants and lifestyle services

in its iconic tower.
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Corporate Governance Report

AN g
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Company recognises responsibilities to its shareholders and is therefore
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance. To
accomplish this, the Company has reviewed its practices and procedure,

and identified and formalised appropriate measures and policies.

Throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Company complied
with all the code provisions, where applicable, set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing

Rules”), except for the deviations as disclosed hereunder:

Code Provision A.1.8: Appropriate insurance cover

in respect of legal action against directors should be
arranged

Currently, the Company does not have insurance cover for legal action
against its Directors. The Board believes that with the current risk
management and internal control systems and the close supervision of the
management, the Directors’ risk of being sued or getting involved in litigation
in their capacity as Directors is relatively low. Benefits to be derived from
taking out insurance may not outweigh the cost. Despite it, every Director is,
subject to the provisions of the applicable laws, indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities
he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto pursuant to the Articles of Association of the
Company. In view of the above, the Board considers that the Directors’

exposure to risk is manageable.
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Corporate Governance Report t¥&R®E

Corporate Governance Practices (continued)

Code Provision A.2.1: The roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separated and performed by two
individuals

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong is both the Chairman and chief executive of the
Company. To avoid concentration of power and authority in any one
individual, day-to-day management of the Company’s business is shared by
Executive Directors whilst formulation of objectives and strategic decisions
are collectively made by the Board. In addition, the Board comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) with differing expertise/
calibre who can provide a “check and balance” effect on the management
through their high attendance at board meetings and therefore ensuring
a balance of power. Given consideration to the aforesaid, the Board of
Directors is of the view that the current structure does not have any adverse
effect on the Company and believes that this structure enables the Group to

make and implement decisions promptly and efficiently.

Code Provision A.6.7: INEDs and other non-executive
directors should give the board and any committees
on which they serve the benefit of their skills,
expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications
through regular attendance and active participation,
and should generally attend general meetings to gain
and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders

Except for the then Non-executive Director of the Company who was unable
to attend the Company’s meetings due to health reason during his tenure,
all INEDs of the Company had full attendance at all the Company’s meetings

held during the year under review.
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Corporate Governance Report t2&R®|E

Corporate Governance Practices (continued)

Code Provision B.1.5: Remuneration details of senior
management should be disclosed by band in annual
reports

The remuneration details of the senior management are not disclosed by
band in the annual report. To ensure they are remunerated at a reasonable
but not excessive rate, none of them is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration or related to the remuneration committee members (who
are authorised to collectively determine the remuneration of the senior
management based on a number of factors set out in the Company’s
remuneration policy). The Directors consider that the non-disclosure does
not pose any negative impact on the Company. On the contrary, the
disclosure of the remuneration details of the senior management may cause
undue comparison among staff members, and would unnecessarily provide
highly sensitive and confidential information to competitors and other third
parties looking to recruit the senior management. In light of the above,
the Directors are of the view that the disclosure of such information would
neither provide pertinent information in furtherance of corporate governance,

nor be in the interests of the members of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report t¥&R®E

Corporate Governance Practices (continued)

Code Provision C.2.5: Issuer should have an internal
audit function and review the need for one in case of
its absence annually

At present, the Company does not have an internal audit function. The Board
reviewed the need for setting up an internal audit function in March 2020
and considered that there was no such an immediate need after taking into
account the Group’s current circumstances, such as the focused nature and
geographical spread of business, the relatively simple operating structure
and small size of the Group and the close involvement and supervision
of the management in daily operation, which could provide sufficient risk
management and internal control for the Group. Despite it, the Board has
taken initiatives to promote the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems by creating a control environment
across the Group (such as building up a corporate culture based on
sound business ethics and accountability through the implementation of
“whistle-blowing” arrangements and procedure manuals with defined roles,
responsibilities and reporting lines) and putting control activities in place (such
as conducting group-wide risk assessment exercise regularly). In addition,
where the external auditor of the Company considers any internal controls
that are relevant to the audit of the financial statements, it will report to the
audit committee any significant deficiencies in internal control identified

during the audit.

In view of the above considerations and the potential cost to be involved, the
Board is of the opinion that it is not cost effective to set up and maintain an
internal audit function and that the existing control mechanism could justify
its absence for the time being. Nonetheless, the Board will review the need

for an internal audit function on an annual basis.
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Corporate Governance Report t2&R®|E

Corporate Governance Practices (continued)

Code Provision F.1.3: The company secretary

should report to the board chairman and/or the chief
executive

Instead of reporting to the Chairman (who is also the chief executive of the
Company), the company secretary reports directly to the Deputy Chairman.
Since the company secretary is located in the same office as the Deputy
Chairman and they work closely on a day-to-day basis, direct reporting
to the Deputy Chairman can provide for a prompt and timely response to
issues which require immediate attention. On the other hand, the Chairman
keeps having ongoing discussion and dialogue with the Deputy Chairman
on business affairs, in particular corporate governance and financial issues,
which enables him to fully understand the operation of the Company and
manage it in an effective manner. Taking into account of the above, the

Board considers that the current reporting line is apposite to the Company.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its code for dealing in securities in the Company by its Directors (“Model
Code”). Specific enquiry has been made to all Directors of the Company
as to whether they have complied with or whether there has been any
non-compliance with the Model Code, and the Directors have confirmed
compliance with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the

financial year ended 31 March 2020.
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Board of Directors
The Board of Directors during the financial year ended 31 March 2020

comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (Chairman)

Mr Cheong Kheng Lim (Deputy Chairman)
Mr Cheong Keng Hooi

Mr Cheong Sim Lam

Miss Cheong Chong Ling

Non-executive Director
Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles (vacated from office with effect from 26 June 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul

Mr Wong Yiu Tak

Mr Lee Chung

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (who is both the Chairman and chief executive
of the Company), Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, Mr Cheong Keng Hooi and
Mr Cheong Sim Lam are brothers. Miss Cheong Chong Ling is the daughter
of Mr Cheong Kheng Lim and the niece of Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong,
Cheong Keng Hooi and Cheong Sim Lam. Some of the Directors who are

members of the Cheong family together own businesses outside the Group.

Under the corporate governance structure, the Board of Directors is as
a whole accountable to the shareholders of the Company in respect of
the Group’s performance. The Board of Directors is responsible for the
leadership and control of the Group, which include formulation of objectives,
overall strategies and business plans; and overseeing the financial and
management performance, corporate governance, risk management and
internal control systems of the Group.

With the objective of focusing more attentively on specific areas, the Board
has established three committees, namely the remuneration committee,
the nomination committee and the audit committee. INEDs are invited to
serve on these Board committees given the benefits they can bring to the
Company. To assist the committees in discharging their roles adequately,
each committee is provided with a committee policy, setting out guidelines
for its members to follow in the process of decision-making. Duties and
authorities of these committees are also set out in their respective terms
of reference. To keep the Board fully informed of their works and findings,

these committees are required to report to the Board on a regular basis.
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Corporate Governance Report t2&R®|E

Board of Directors (continued)

For the purpose of efficient operation, the Board relies on the management
for the day-to-day operation of the Group’s business. The management has
to implement the objectives, strategies and plans adopted by the Board
and report to the Board regularly. The Board monitors the work of the
management whilst the management provides an indispensable support to
the operation of the Board and the Group’s development. Given the close
collaboration between the Board and the management, the duties, power
and functions of the Board and the management are clearly laid down and

defined in writing.

Delegating its functions and authorities to the Board committees and the
management does not absolve the Board from its overall responsibility for
the governance of the Group. The Board at all times assumes the ultimate

responsibility for the Group’s management and operation.

The Directors of the Company are responsible for preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for each financial period which give a true
and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Group.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 March 2020 on a going concern basis, the Directors
have adopted suitable accounting policies and, other than the changes in
accounting policies which are first effective for the year under review as
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, applied them consistently
with those applied to the financial statements of the previous financial
year. The Directors have also made judgements and estimates which are

reasonable.

The Directors of the Company are accountable for keeping proper records
which reflect with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of
the Group. The statement of the Auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the

Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 76 to 82.
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Corporate Governance Report t¥&R®E

Board of Directors (continued)

Six board meetings, of which four were regular board meetings, and one

general meeting were held during the financial year ended 31 March 2020.

Individual attendance of the Directors at board meetings, board committee

meetings and annual general meeting in the year under review is set out

BE= )
RBE-—Z-TE=A=+—BLHREER
AARABEAREFR R (K mA AT HE
HORAREAR - SEERASEHEESS

g EFSETLZEeEHNMRRAFAEZ

below: FOERU0T -
Meetings attended/eligible to attend
LREEERE FEREESERY
Remuneration Nomination Audit Annual General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
34 ¥Mzeg REZEE ENZEE RRAFEAE
Covering
corporate
governance- Covering
Directors related matters other matters Total
BREEER
= HHZEE YREMSE ECE
Executive Directors
HiTEE
¢ Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (Chairman) 212 4/4 6/6 NA 2/2 NA 11
BREELE(ZE) @R TNEA
¢ Mr Cheong Kheng Lim (Deputy Chairman) 212 4/4 6/6 NA 2/2 NA 11
BRI AE(FFE) TR TEA
¢ Mr Cheong Keng Hooi 2/2 4/4 6/6 NA NA NA 11
BiMELE ~Em NER TEA
¢ Mr Cheong Sim Lam 2/2 4/4 6/6 NA NA NA 11
BUEEE @R ek ek
¢ Miss Cheong Chong Ling 2/2 4/4 6/6 NA NA NA il
BI%/MA TER TER TEA
Non-executive Director
FHTEE
¢ Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles” 0/0 0N 01 01 NA 01 NA
AR A TR TEm
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFHTESE
¢ Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul 212 4/4 6/6 3/3 2/2 4/4 11
AZEBEE
¢ MrWong Yiu Tak 2/2 4/4 6/6 3/3 2/2 4/4 il
HRERE
¢ MrLee Chung 212 4/4 6/6 3/3 212 4/4 11
TS
Total number of meetings 2 4 6 3 2 4 1
emy
. Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles was vacated from his office as a Director of the " ARARRZF—NFERNAZHNAEUHERBE LR

Company on 26 June 2019. During his tenure, only one board meeting and one

meeting in respect of each of the remuneration committee and audit committee

Mr Sin was eligible to attend.
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Corporate Governance Report t2&R®|E

Board of Directors (continued)

To enable the Directors to maintain the necessary knowledge and skills
to perform their roles, the Company places an emphasis on Directors’
training. During the year under review, all Directors were furnished with
quarterly memoranda/circulars so as to regularly refresh their knowledge
relating to Directors’ duties and legal and regulatory obligations. To keep
the Directors abreast of the latest developments regarding regulatory and
legal requirements, the company secretary also provided updates directly
or through other professionals to the Board as and when necessary. During
the financial year ended 31 March 2020, not only did the Company organise
in-house training courses in relation to corporate governance and Directors’
roles, duties and responsibilities for its Directors, it also provided them with
“Director E-training” concerning environmental, social and governance
requirements/reporting as composed by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. For the purpose of ensuring adequacy of training received by the
Directors, the Board conducted a review thereon. Other than the foregoing,
the Directors are encouraged to attend relevant external training sessions,
seminars, forums and conferences on their own with all related expenses

reimbursable by the Company, subject to the Company’s policy.
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Corporate Governance Report t¥&R®E

Board of Directors (Continued) %%%(E)
Training received by the Directors during the financial year ended 31 March REZ2-ZE-FF=-_A=+—HIPTHRFE - &
2020 is set out below: EEEREIZEHNT
Receiving
briefings
Attending from company
courses/ secretary/
seminars/ Reading  other executives/
conferences materials professionals
R’RARNE
HERE HitTBAR
= HEAL
Directors 2E BE = BIEER BEEHR
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (Chairman) EEREE(EE) v v
Mr Cheong Kheng Lim (Deputy Chairman) 4EIRM 55 4 (B3 /%) v v
Mr Cheong Keng Hooi SEAMIE S A vV vV
Mr Cheong Sim Lam SBEARRE A vV vV
Miss Cheong Chong Ling fEIRIR /A vV vV
Non-executive Director HHITESE
Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles (vacated from /BB (B T — N4
office with effect from 26 June 2019) NAZTNBEEER)
Independent Non-executive Directors BV HHITESE
Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul AZESkE Vv v
Mr Wong Yiu Tak ERESE vV vV
Mr Lee Chung £V vV vV
Note: The training mentioned herein is relevant to (1) corporate governance, e EURERAEIEENOGEESR  QEFAR  BE

(2) Directors’ roles, duties and responsibilities, and (3) rules and regulations. MEE - REQKHIERRFR -
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Non-executive Director and

Independent Non-executive Directors

The term of appointment of the only Non-executive Director was one year
(though he was vacated from office on 26 June 2019) whilst INEDs are
appointed for the period commencing from the conclusion of one annual
general meeting to the conclusion of the following annual general meeting.
According to the Company’s Articles of Association, they are required to
retire by rotation, but remain eligible for re-election, at least once every three

years.

The Company has received confirmation from each INED about his
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers
each of them to be independent. One of the INEDs possesses appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management

expertise as required under the Listing Rules.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the audit committee, each
with its written terms of reference. Each committee is required to report
back to the Board and keep the Board fully informed of its decisions and
recommendations unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions on its

ability to do so.

Remuneration committee

The primary objective of the Group’s remuneration policy is to retain
Directors and senior management of suitable calibre by remunerating them
at a competitive level. In order to achieve this, the Board has established
a remuneration committee. Under the Group’s remuneration policy, no
Director or his/her associates are allowed to be involved in decisions relating

to his/her own remuneration.
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Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration committee (Continued)

The remuneration committee currently comprises three INEDs. They are
Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul (committee chairman), Mr Wong Yiu Tak and
Mr Lee Chung. The main duties of the remuneration committee are to review
and make recommendations to the Board on the terms of reference
of the committee; to assist the Company in formulating remuneration
policy and structure for Directors and senior management; to review
and approve the management’s remuneration proposals; to determine,
with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual
Executive Directors and senior management; to make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration of the INEDs; to consider salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group; to review and approve
compensation payable to Executive Directors and senior management for
any loss or termination of office or appointment; and to review and approve
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors
for misconduct. Details of the remuneration committee’s authority and
duties are set out in the terms of reference. The said terms of reference are
published on the websites of the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and

Clearing Limited (“HKEX").

Remuneration of individual Executive Directors and senior management is
determined, with delegated responsibility, by the remuneration committee on
the recommendations of the chief executive (except Mr Cheong Hooi Hong
whose remuneration package is determined by the remuneration committee
alone) on an annual basis. The remuneration committee also makes
recommendations to the Board on the review of INEDs’ remuneration
annually. For all other staff, it is the Executive Directors who fix their
remuneration packages on the recommendations of their respective

department heads on an annual basis.

The amount of remuneration payable to the Directors is determined by
reference to a number of factors, including remuneration paid by comparable
companies, the Group’s results as well as the work-load, responsibility and
time commitment of the Directors. When determining the remuneration
packages of senior management and all other staff, the remuneration
committee and Executive Directors, as the case may be, take(s) into
consideration the factors including market conditions, the Group’s results,

individual performance, job nature and duties.
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Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration committee (Continued)

Other than the retirement scheme as set out in note 25 to the financial
statements on page 143, the Group does not have any long-term incentive

scheme.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the remuneration committee
held three meetings and reviewed and made recommmendations to the Board
on the Company’s remuneration policy and the terms of reference of the
committee; considered and fixed the remuneration packages of Executive
Directors and senior management; and made recommendations to the
Board on both the remuneration of the INEDs and payment to the Non-
executive Director on his vacation of office as a Director of the Company.
The attendance record of each remuneration committee member is set out

in the table on page 12.

Nomination committee

The nomination committee currently comprises two Executive Directors
and three INEDs. They are Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (committee chairman),
Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul, Mr Wong Yiu Tak and
Mr Lee Chung.

The main duties of the nomination committee are to review and provide
recommendations to the Board on the nomination policy, terms of reference
of the committee and the Board diversity policy; to review the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; to assess the
independence of INEDs; to assess the mix in terms of gender, age and
qualifications required on the Board; to identify individuals suitably qualified
to become Board members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; and to
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman
and the chief executive, and on the need of setting measurable objectives
for implementing the Board diversity policy. Details of the nhomination
committee’s authority and duties are set out in the terms of reference. The
said terms of reference are published on the websites of the Company and

the HKEX.
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Board Committees (continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the nomination committee
held two meetings and reviewed and made recommendations to the Board
on the nomination policy, the terms of reference of the committee, the Board
diversity policy, the need of setting measurable objectives for implementing
the Board diversity policy and the necessary mix required on the Board;
put forward recommendations to the Board on the structure, size and
composition of the Board; assessed the independence of the INEDs; and
made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointments of the INEDs

and Directors who were subject to retirement by rotation.

To ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company, a nomination policy
which delineates the procedures and criteria for nomination of Directors has
been laid down. Under the policy, all Directors, including those appointed
for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. Any
Directors appointed by the Board as an addition to the Board shall retire
at the next annual general meeting whilst those appointed to fill casual
vacancies shall retire at the next general meeting (instead of the next annual
general meeting) and Directors so appointed are eligible for re-election. The

appointment term of the Directors is determined by the Board.

Before making recommendations to the Board on appointment or
re-appointment of a Director, the nomination committee shall, after having
considered the present and future needs of the Company and the new
challenges/risks it may encounter, determine the necessary attributes/
competencies required for the Director. In considering the suitability of
an individual to become a Director or a Director to be re-appointed, the
nomination committee shall consider whether the person concerned
possesses the specific qualities required by the Company, his/her
personal profile and whether he/she meets the basic criteria as required
under applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong, such as being able
to demonstrate a standard of competence and having the character,
experience and integrity commensurate with his/her position as a Director.
For the appointment/re-appointment of an INED, the nomination committee
shall also take into account the independence guidelines laid down in the

Listing Rules.
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Board Committees (continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

To ensure there is a balanced composition of the Board, the nomination
committee needs to consider not only one’s attributes/competencies, but
also his/her value to the Company. Board diversity is a key consideration
in Board selection process which the nomination committee shall give
consideration to. For the Company, it is more than an issue of gender, it also
focuses on age and professional experience. Selection of female candidates
or candidates of a particular age group or qualifications to join the Board is,
in part, dependent on the pool of candidates possessing necessary skills,
knowledge and experience. Board appointment is mainly based on merit and
contribution likely brought by the chosen candidates. The Company believes
that, with the benefits of diversity, it can have a better understanding to
the needs and expectations of its stakeholders, in particular shoppers and

tenants.

To reflect the above, the Company has adopted a Board diversity policy, in
which the nomination committee is required to assess the mix in terms of
gender, age and qualifications required on the Board; and to recommend to
the Board any matters in relation to Board diversity or implementation of the

policy.

Although the Board supports the principle of diversity, it currently does not
intend to fix a diversity quota for Board appointment or set a short term
objective on gender diversity, for such policies may compromise on the

calibre of Directors.

As regards nomination procedures, the relevant details are set out
in the nomination policy, which requires the Board (i) on receipt of
recommendations from the nomination committee forms an opinion as to
whether one shall be appointed/re-appointed with particular regards paid
to the matters stipulated in Code Provision A.5.5 of the CG Code and
(i) publishes an announcement as per the Listing Rules after the same has been
approved. If the appointment/re-appointment is subject to shareholders’
approval, disclosure as required under the Listing Rules has to be made
accordingly. The attendance record of each nomination committee member is

set out in the table on page 12.
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Board Committees (continued)

Audit committee

The primary responsibilities of the audit committee of the Company are
to make recommendations to the Board on appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor; to approve remuneration, terms of
engagement and handle all issues relating to resignation or dismissal in
respect of the external auditor; to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of its audit process; to
discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of audit and reporting
obligations before commencement of audit; to develop and implement
policy on engagement of the external auditor to supply non-audit services;
to oversee financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems; to review financial information of the Group; to review
arrangements employees of the Company can use in confidence to raise
concerns about possible improprieties and ensure proper arrangements are
in place for fair and independent investigation and for follow-up action; to act
as the key representative body for overseeing the Company’s relations with
the external auditor; and to review and make recommendations to the Board
on the terms of reference of the committee. Details of the audit committee’s
authority and duties are set out in the terms of reference. The said terms of

reference are published on the websites of the Company and the HKEXx.

The audit committee currently comprises three INEDs. They are Mr Chow

Wan Hoi, Paul (committee chairman), Mr Wong Yiu Tak and Mr Lee Chung.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the audit committee met
four times and made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the external auditor; considered and approved the terms of engagement
of the external auditor for provision of audit services and interim review
services; reviewed the half-year and annual financial statements of the
Group, including integrity and significant financial reporting judgements
contained therein, before submission to the Board for approval; discussed
with the external auditor the nature and scope of the audit and determined
the scope and extent of the interim review before commencement; met the
external auditor without the presence of executive board members of the
Company; and considered and made recommendations to the Board on the
arrangements for employees to raise concerns about improprieties, the audit
policy, the terms of reference of the committee and the risk management

policy.
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Board Committees (continued)

Audit committee (Continued)

The audit committee during the year under review also reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
by monitoring the risk change during the year, assessing the adequacy of
the mitigating strategies used and the impact of the identified risks on the
Group. It also evaluated the need of setting up an internal audit function by
considering the current internal control mechanism and the pros and cons of
doing so. The attendance record of each audit committee member is set out

in the table on page 12.

Corporate governance functions

Given the importance of good corporate governance to the success of
the Company, the Board is directly responsible for performing corporate
governance duties. The duties set out in the Code Provision D.3.1 of the CG

Code are included in its terms of reference.

Among the six board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March
2020, two of the meetings covered issues relating to corporate governance.
At the meetings, the Board reviewed and modified the general code of
conduct for employees and Directors; monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management; and
reviewed corporate governance policies and practices including those
relating to compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report. Individual attendance of the Directors at the said two board

meetings is set out in the table on page 12.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Auditor of the Company,
KPMG, provided audit services of a value of approximately HK$820,000
to the Group. KPMG also provided non-audit services of a value of
approximately HK$300,000 to the Group, which included HK$99,000 and
HK$201,000 being charges for tax services and review of the interim results

of the Group respectively.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
Responsibility
The Board has an overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and

internal control systems.

To this end, the Board, assisted by the audit committee, oversees the
foregoing systems on an ongoing basis by evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks (including the environmental, social
and governance-related risks) it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives, maintaining appropriate and effective risk management

and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.

Although the said systems are complemented by relevant procedure and
measures for the purpose of safeguarding the interests of the Group and its
shareholders as a whole, they are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or

loss.

Key features and process

As risk management is the responsibility of everyone within the Group
and something more than a formality, it is integrated into the day-to-day
operation and carried out at all levels under the stewardship of the Board.
In order to create a control environment across the Group to support the
risk management and internal control systems, the Company is committed
to building up a corporate culture based on business ethics, control
responsibility and risk awareness. To accomplish this, the Company has
adopted a general code of conduct to govern the integrity and ethical
behaviour of employees in business practices. Procedure manuals
delineating reporting lines and areas of responsibility of each department/
operating unit are laid down and are under review from time to time. In
addition, arrangements for employees to raise concerns, in confidence,
about possible improprieties in any matters in relation to the Group or any
non-compliance with the Company’s policies are in place. All policies,
procedure and guidelines with defined limits of delegated authority are put in

writing so as to enhance effective segregation of duties and controls.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Key features and process (Continued)

On top of fostering a risk management culture, the Board adopts a bottom-
up approach to identify the Group’s operational risks. Instead of setting
up a separate department charged with the risk-related issues, it gets
all departments/operating units involved. Under the current systems, all
department/unit heads are required to establish risk factors specific to their
responsible areas, determine impact as well as likelihood of identified risks
in accordance with the risk appetite set by the Board and develop mitigating
strategies. They shall maintain a risk register containing the said information
and update it on a regular basis. In order to provide the Board and the audit
committee with an overview of the Group’s operational risks and how they
are managed, the management scrutinises, filters, amends and compiles
relevant information, together with findings of the strategic risk identification
performed by the Executive Directors on behalf of the Board, as a composite
risk report to the Board/the audit committee for review and endorsement
every 6 months unless the circumstances are exceptional which require
immediate attention for discussion. The external auditor also has access to
the risk registers and composite risk reports. During the financial year ended
31 March 2020, such risk assessment exercise was done on a half-yearly

basis.

In the absence of an internal audit function (reasons for its absence are set
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Practices” on pages 5 to 9),
the Board has appointed a qualified accountant, who is also the accounting
manager of the Group, to carry out sample testing on procedure compliance
and risk-related issues in respect of all departments/operating units. Test
results and findings are reported to the audit committee on an annual basis.
Heads of the departments/operating units which may have a significant
financial implication on the Group’s revenue are required to make an annual
representation to the audit committee confirming that all potential risks in
relation to their scope of work are properly dealt with. The management will
then review the situation and provide the Board/the audit committee with an
annual confirmation on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal

control systems.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Key features and process (Continued)

Being part of the internal control process, the Group has maintained a
comprehensive accounting system for ensuring complete and accurate
financial information. Annual budgets as regards rental income and operating
expenses of iISQUARE, the Group’s main source of revenue, are prepared
for effective allocation and utilisation of resources. As regards outgoings,
the Group has established procedure for approval and control of operating
expenditures whilst the capital ones are subject to management approval
prior to commitment. Other control measures, including provision of monthly
management accounts to Directors and preparation of variance analyses,

help identify deficiencies and enable timely remedial actions to be taken.

Handling of inside information

Concerning inside information, the Company has implemented various
policies to govern how it shall be handled. Policy on disclosure of inside
information sets out the manner in which inside information is escalated
and disseminated whereas the risk management policy provides ways to
deal with risks which may constitute inside information. Besides, the general
code of conduct adopted by the Group prohibits inappropriate use of
confidential or inside information. All employees are required to undertake
their adherence to the said code and report any non-compliance with it to

the management.

For the purpose of complying with the applicable laws and regulations in
relation to inside information, the Company has adopted the Model Code as
its own code. Relevant procedure for guarding against mishandling of inside
information includes pre-clearance on dealing in the Company’s securities
by designated Directors and notification of black-out period to Directors. In
order to remind Directors and employees of their obligations in securities

transaction, they are provided with memoranda on a quarterly basis.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Review of effectiveness

Although the management is charged with the responsibility to design,
implement and monitor the risk management and internal control systems,
the Board and the audit committee oversee the process. In March 2020,
the Board, with the confirmation from the management certifying that the
aforesaid systems were functioning effectively and the assistance of the
audit committee, conducted a review on the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems for the financial year ended
31 March 2020. Such review covered all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls. Based on the review result, the Board
considered that the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal control and
financial reporting functions were adequate and that the risk management
and internal control systems were effective and apposite to the Group
though no in-house or outsourced internal audit function has been set up as
required by the CG Code. The Board is not aware of any significant areas of
concern which should be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the

Company.

Principal risks and uncertainties

As with any business, the Group faces risks and uncertainties on a daily
basis. In determining the principal risks posed to the Group, the Board takes
into account the overall severity level (based on the impact and likelihood
matrix) of the risks set out in the composite risk reports and their changes
during the financial year. It also examines their nature and impact on the
Group and evaluates the effectiveness and suitability of the mitigating
strategies as applied by taking into consideration the actual operation and

performance of the Group.

From the Group’s overall perspective, the following are identified as principal
risks currently encountered by the Group. That said, they are by no means
exhaustive or comprehensive. There may be other risks which may not
be material now but could turn out to be such in the future. Although the
principal risks may not change significantly from year to year, their magnitude

and importance to the Group can and do vary.
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Risk Management and Internal Control continued)  JELBE B FE 12 (2P B2 42 ()

Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Risk
pertaining to
BT &8
BENRR

Risk change
during the year
under review
TEE
il ok -2

Desctription

i

FERMERTAHAREZ @)

Key controls and mitigations

IREZLARERHR

Leasing

HE

ft

Despite the modest economic growth in the first half of
2019, downward pressure on rental level and increase
in vacancies at iSQUARE persisted given the increase in
new supply of retail premises in Tsim Sha Tsui area and
the growing popularity of online shopping. Escalation of
domestic social incidents in the second half of 2019 had
not only dampened local consumer sentiments, but also
brought about a severe setback in inbound tourism, which
conjointly dealt a heavy blow to Hong Kong retail market
and food and beverage industry. Business of ISQUARE
tenants was inevitably seriously disrupted. Coupled with
the outbreak of novel coronavirus (“COVID-19") and its
swift spreading across the world, together with a series
of measures adopted by different countries to contain the
virus, such as travel restrictions, city lockdown and border
closure, there was a plunge in worldwide travel and tourism
industries which in turn took a heavy toll on retail and
catering business. The pandemic scare has turned a grim
local outlook to a worldwide one. With the ever-growing
difficulties encountered by iISQUARE tenants, increased
downward pressure on rental level and further drop in
occupancy rate have become unavoidable.

In view of the prevailing situation, in particular the high
uncertainty on the threat posed by COVID-19 and the
development of domestic social incidents, business outlook
of tenants remains tough and risk of tenants’ default may

pile up.
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To offer short-term relief to tenants so as to alleviate
their business pressure whereby a sustainable
business partnership can be maintained

To focus marketing efforts on drawing more people to
and encouraging consumption at ISQUARE

To conduct direct engagement with tenants and
closely monitor their financial performance and
payment record

To adopt a more proactive approach on managing
tenancy expiries and vacancies
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Risk
pertaining to
BT ER
BRhER

Risk change
during the year
under review
rEE
4] 314

Description

I

[ iz i 3 K2 N 2P BE A2 ()
FTERMRKRTPBRZ @)

Key controls and mitigations

TEEERERERHE

Outbreak of
contagious
diseases

BRmRES

ih

The fast spreading of COVID-19 has shaken the world
economy with hardest hit on travel and tourism industries.
Since visitors’ shopping expenditure features prominently
in Hong Kong retail sales, the drastic drop in visitor
arrivals together with the Hong Kong government’s
advice on social distancing has given iISQUARE, as with
other shopping malls generally, a hard time. The negative
impact on the Group is significant given ISQUARE s the
Group’s main business operation. Worse still, COVID-19
is a novel virus with no vaccine or drugs available for the
moment, its development has become unpredictable. Such
precariousness has further upset not only Hong Kong but
also world market prospects and dampened consumer
sentiments. The unabated difficult operating environment
will inevitably render an increase in risk exposure of the

Group.
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To stay alert to the latest development in relation
to COVID-19 so that swift adjustment to corporate

strategies and business activities can be made
To maintain a solid financial position with strong

cash flow and a low gearing level so as to cater for

unforeseen circumstances
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

B ' 3 % P B BE A )
FTERRERTAREE @

Risk change

Risk during the year

pertaining to under review Description Key controls and mitigations

RUTHE FEE

ERHER Jaliok -2 it TEERRARERHE

Economic and il As the Group’s operations are mainly based in Hong Kong, o To closely monitor the operating environment so as

political outlook any adverse change in local political and economic climate to enable prompt adjustment to corporate strategies

could disrupt its overall business. The domestic social and business activities
incidents clearly demonstrate the negative impact brought
onto the Group as they have not only deterred visitors o To ensure a solid financial position with strong
from coming to Hong Kong, but also undermined local cash flow and a low gearing level for coping with
consumer sentiments which in turn dealt a severe blow unexpected changes
to retail sales. The emergence of COVID-19 has on the
worldwide level created an unfavourable atmosphere which
changes the usual travelling and spending patterns of
tourists/shoppers and further stifles the Hong Kong already
subdued economic conditions. Given the high uncertainty
in the unfolding of the local social incidents and COVID-19,
risk level has mounted up and the Group’s business will
continue to be influenced.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Description

I

[ iz i 3 K2 N 2P BE A2 ()
FTERMRKRTPBRZ @)

Key controls and mitigations

TEERRERERHE

Risk change
Risk during the year
pertaining to under review
RUTHE rEE
BENERR BRHEL
Investment properties {1

(‘IPs”)

RENZ i

Pursuant to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the
Group’s IPs are stated at fair values in the consolidated
statement of financial position whilst changes thereof are

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Given the relatively heavy weighting of the IPs in the
Group’s property portfolio, any significant change in the
valuation of the IPs can seriously affect the Group's profit/
loss for the year. As one of the key drivers of the valuation
of the IPs is rental income which can be volatile and there
has been an ever-increasing downward pressure on rental
level and occupancy rate at ISQUARE during the year
under review as a result of the emergence of COVID-19
and a series of local social incidents, further valuation
losses are largely expected. Notwithstanding the valuation
change, fair value gains/losses will not affect the Group’s
cash flow.

Due to the current financial reporting requirements,
valuation changes have influenced and will continue to
influence the Group’s profit/loss.
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Ensuring stable revenue streams is a practicable way to
counter adverse impact caused by valuation losses during
economic downturns. Measures taken by the Group

include the following:

o To build up a more diversified tenant mix with a view

to maintaining a sustainable tenant portfolio
e To launch creative and popular promotions so as
to increase exposure, thereby stimulate consumer

spending and add value to the IPs

o To stay alert to market changes and tenant needs for
maintaining competitiveness

o To preserve quality of the IPs by carrying out
maintenance and enhancement works
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

[ Bix B 32 K2 R 2B BE A ()
FTERMRKRTPBRZEZ @)

Risk change

Risk during the year

pertaining to under review Description Key controls and mitigations

EUTHE KEE

ERHER Jaliok -2 it FTEEERERERHE

Manpower @ Ongoing insufficient supply of experienced and skilled o To review salary and benefits of staff with the aim of
personnel, in particular front-line staff, has long been an recruiting and retaining people of right calibre
issue in property management industry. Together with the
structural changes in the workforce in Hong Kong, such o To provide staff with relevant training
situation continued during the year under review.

o Tomaintain a reliever pool for front-line and marketing
staff so as to provide a temporary relief of shortage of
manpower

o To strengthen communication with staff through
regular briefings and meetings

ANER & BERT AARREMNEI(RAEASETIRNE o HREINHFENEAFLES EERENRE
ERXYANEE  ENLEASDANERE L8 AAETHMET
2 NWERNEERREERERE -

o REIRARNE

o REFGREETSHEZEINEHRY A
BEFEAFIRNRE

o RRATHESRNEEMEEETNER

Notes: B
© : Risk level increased o 0 REKELEF

< : Risk level remains broadly the same

In addition to monitoring the impact of the principal risks that the Group is
now facing by adjusting its corporate strategies and mitigating measures,
the management will keep observing if there is any emerging risk which may

affect the Group significantly on a regular basis.
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Shareholders’ Relations
To enhance its accountability and promote transparency, the Company is

committed to maintaining channels for communication with its shareholders.

Providing information

Corporate communications are prepared in both English and Chinese
versions and in plain language so as to make the documents understandable.
Such documents are despatched to shareholders and released to the public

domain in a timely manner.

Information released by the Company to the HKEXx is posted on the

Company’s website (http://aihl.etnet.com.hk/eng/ca_calendar.php) thereafter.

The Articles of Association of the Company which spell out shareholders’
rights can be found on the websites of the Company and the HKEx. During
the financial year ended 31 March 2020, there were no changes made to the

Articles of Association of the Company.

Encouraging participation/interaction

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for face-to-
face communication between shareholders and the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to participate in general meetings or appoint proxies
to attend, speak and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they are
unable to attend. Board members, in particular, the Chairman of the Board
and chairmen of the Board committees, or their delegates, appropriate
management staff and the Company’s external auditor normally attend

annual general meetings to answer shareholders’ questions.
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Shareholders’ Relations (continued)

Encouraging participation/interaction (continued)
Shareholders are also provided with means by which their enquiries can
be put forward to the Board. Such channels, including designated email

address (aihlcosec@tianteckgroup.com), correspondence address, fax

number and telephone number, are made available on the Company’s
website. Queries relating to shareholders’ own shareholdings should be
directed to the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Subject to applicable legislation and regulations, in particular the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association of
the Company as amended from time to time, shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”, and each a “Shareholder”) may convene general meetings
and put forward proposals at general meetings. The relevant procedure is

set out below:

To convene an Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)
o The Company holds a general meeting as its AGM every year. An

AGM is usually held in September.

° If the Company fails to hold an AGM (which is unlikely to occur) after
6 months have elapsed since the end of the Company’s financial year,
any Shareholder may apply to the court in Hong Kong which, on such

application, may call or direct the calling of an AGM of the Company.
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Shareholders’ Relations (continued)
Encouraging participation/interaction (Continued)
To move a resolution at an AGM

Shareholder(s) can make a request to circulate a resolution for an

AGM if they represent at least:

(@

2.5% of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders who
have a right to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which the

request relates; or

50 Shareholders who have a right to vote on the resolution at

the AGM to which the request relates.

The request must:

(@

be sent in hard copy form to the Deputy Chairman of the
Board at 9th Floor, iSQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,

Kowloon, Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company;

identify the proposed resolution;

be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned; and

be received by the Company not later than 6 weeks before the

AGM to which the request relates or if later, the time at which

notice of the AGM is despatched.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and

upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the

company secretary will request the Board to include the resolution

in the agenda for the AGM. On the contrary, if the request is verified

as not in order, the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this

outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution will not be included
in the agenda for the AGM.
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Shareholders’ Relations (continued)
Encouraging participation/interaction (Continued)
To convene a General Meeting (“GM”)

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of
all the Shareholders having a right to vote at GMs can request the
Directors to call a GM.

The request:

(@) must state the general nature of the business to be dealt with
at the meeting;

(b)  may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved

and is intended to be moved at the meeting;

(©) may consist of several documents in like form;

(d) must be sent in hard copy form to the Deputy Chairman of the
Board at 9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company;
and

(e) must be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and
upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
company secretary will request the Board to convene a GM by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements to all
the registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if the request is verified
as not in order, the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, a GM will not be convened as requested.

Directors must call a GM within 21 days after the date on which they
become subject to the requirement and the meeting so called must
be held on a date not more than 28 days after the date of the notice
convening the meeting.

If the Directors do not convene a GM as required, the Shareholder(s)
concerned or any of them representing more than one half of the total
voting rights of all of them may themselves call a GM, and the meeting
so convened must be called for a date not more than 3 months after
the date on which the Directors become subject to the requirement
to call a GM. The Company must reimburse any reasonable expenses
incurred by the Shareholder(s) requesting the GM by reason of the
failure of the Directors duly to call a GM.
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Shareholders’ Relations (continued)
Encouraging participation/interaction (Continued)

To propose a person other than a Director of the Company for

election as a Director at a GM, including an AGM

In accordance with its Articles of Association, the Company at the
meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated office by
electing a person thereto. If a Shareholder (other than the person
to be nominated as mentioned hereinafter), who is duly qualified
to attend and vote at the GM for which the notice of intention as
hereinafter described is to be given, wishes to propose a person other
than a retiring Director of the Company for election as a Director of
the Company at any GM, he/she should sign and deposit a notice of
intention to that effect at 9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company,
for the attention of the Board together with a notice signed by the
nominated person of his/her willingness to be elected. The minimum
length of period during which such notices are given shall be at least
7 days and the period for lodgement shall commence no earlier than
the day after despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such
election (inclusive of such day) and end no later than 7 days prior to

the date of such GM (“Lodgement Period”).

To enable the Company to inform Shareholders of the foregoing
proposal, the written notices as mentioned above shall be
accompanied by (i) the information of the nominated person as
required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and
(i) the written consent of the nominated person to the publication of

his/her personal data.

Relevant procedure and the Lodgement Period for each GM will
be set out in the corresponding circular to be despatched to the

Shareholders.

If the notice is received less than 15 clear days prior to the GM,
the Company will consider adjourning the GM in order to allow
Shareholders at least 14 clear days or 10 clear business days’ notice

of the proposal, whichever is the longer.
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Shareholders’ Relations (continued)
Encouraging participation/interaction (Continued)
Circulation of Statement at a GM, including an AGM

Eligible Shareholders can express their views on a matter mentioned
in a proposed resolution or other business to be dealt with at a GM
in a written statement of not more than 1,000 words and request the
Company to circulate it to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of a

GM. Eligible Shareholders must represent at least:

(@) 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having the

relevant right to vote; or

(b) 50 Shareholders having the relevant right to vote.

For a statement concerning a matter mentioned in a proposed

resolution, “the relevant right to vote” means a right to vote on that

resolution at the meeting to which the request relates. For a statement

concerning other business, “the relevant right to vote” means a right

to vote at the meeting to which the request relates.

The request must:

(@ be sent in hard copy form to the Deputy Chairman of the

Board at 9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,

Kowloon, Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company;

(b) identify the statement to be circulated;

(©) be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned; and

(d) be received by the Company at least 7 days before the meeting

to which it relates.
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Shareholders’ Relations (continued)
Encouraging participation/interaction (Continued)
Circulation of Statement at a GM, including an AGM (Continued)

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and
upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
Company will circulate the statement to Shareholders entitled to

receive notice of the meeting provided that:

(@) if the request relates to an AGM,

(i) the statement is received in time to enable the Company
to send a copy of the statement at the same time as the

notice of AGM is despatched; or

(ii) otherwise, the Shareholder(s) concerned have, not
later than 7 days before the AGM, deposited a sum
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
circulating the statement submitted by the Shareholder(s)

concerned.

(b) if the request relates to a GM other than an AGM, the
Shareholder(s) concerned have, not later than 7 days before
the GM, deposited a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in circulating the statement submitted by

the Shareholder(s) concerned.

On the contrary, if the request is verified as not in order or as not
having received in time for the Company to include a copy of the
statement in the notice of AGM or the Shareholder(s) concerned
has/have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s
expenses for the circulation purpose within the time frame (as the
case may be), the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, the statement will not be circulated to

Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the meeting.
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Shareholders’ Relations (continued)

Dividend policy

With the aim of providing Shareholders with a sustainable dividend stream,
the Company adopted a dividend policy in November 2018. This policy
provides guidelines to the Board in determining dividends. It clearly sets out
considerations the Board shall take into account when proposing dividends.
These factors include, inter alia, financial performance, working capital
requirements and future development plans of the Company and general
economic environment. Subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations and
the Articles of Association of the Company, the Board may declare dividends
provided that there is a profit (excluding valuation changes) for the year/
period concerned. To give flexibility to the Board in making payout decisions
after having regard to the circumstances then pertaining, the dividend policy
does not specify any payout ratio, the form dividends shall take or frequency
they shall be declared. This policy will be subject to review by the Board from

time to time and be updated as and when considered necessary.
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report

tEHEEEHRE

Approach and Strategy

Being a responsible enterprise, the Company is not only concerned with
its financial growth but also its non-financial performance. The Company
recognises that the manner in which it conducts business will impact on
the environment and society. As such, the management strives to make a
positive contribution to the sustainability development of the environment
and society by integrating the socially responsible practices in its daily
operation. The Executive Directors are responsible for driving environmental
and social responsibilities initiatives and reviewing their practices for
performance improvement whilst the Board assumes an overall responsibility

for the Company’s environmental and social strategy and reporting.

Reporting Scope

This Corporate Social Responsibility Report provides a review on the Group’s
performance of its environmental and social responsibilities for the financial
year ended 31 March 2020. As iISQUARE is the Group’s main business

operation, its performance is included herein unless otherwise specified.

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (“Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules. Its content is determined through a process which involves
identification of stakeholders and relevant issues in relation to environmental
and social responsibilities and prioritisation of the issues to be reported
after taking into account the stakeholders’ expectations and the Group’s
unique business nature. In this report, only the environmental and social
responsibilities initiatives and performance that are material and/or relevant
to the Group and its stakeholders are outlined. During the financial year
ended 31 March 2020, the Company complied with all the “comply or

explain” provisions, where applicable, set out in the Guide.

Stakeholders’ Engagement and Materiality
Assessment

To truly understand the views and expectations of the stakeholders on
sustainability development, the Company keeps ongoing communication
with its key stakeholders. During the year under review, the Company
engaged its shareholders, employees, business partners and tenants
through face-to-face discussions and/or questionnaires. Reporting issues
are identified according to the impact of the issues on the Group’s business
and stakeholders as evaluated by the management and the stakeholders

respectively.
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Environmental Issues

Policy

Since the management acknowledges that the Group shall take into account
the impact of its business operation on the environment while achieving
financial growth, the Group has adopted an environmental policy with a
focus on the following:

1. ensuring full compliance with applicable legislation and requirements

2. incorporating environmental considerations into contracting decisions

and tenant selection where practicable
3. promoting environmental awareness among staff
4. adopting eco-friendly practices in daily operation
5. disposing of waste in an environmentally responsible way
6. reducing waste and where practicable, reusing and recycling materials
7. communicating the Group’s policy to its key stakeholder and

encouraging it to integrate the environmental concerns into its

operation process
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Environmental Issues (continued)

Initiatives

In order to support environmental conservation, the Group, in addition to its
practice in collecting used/useless lai see packets for recycling, participated
in the lai see packets reuse programme organised by Greeners Action during
the year under review by sponsoring it for the event and providing iISQUARE as
one of the collection points. To adhere to the principle of reusing materials
as laid down in the environmental policy on the one hand and help the needy
on the other, the Group fulfilled its target of donating all the computers which
were replaced during the financial year under review to charities. The Group
also took part in “Earth Hour 2020” and “No Air Con Night 2019” organised
by World Wide Fund for Nature (“WWF”) and Green Sense respectively so as

to raise environmental awareness in the workplace.

Simultaneously, the Group continues to operate office facilities in an

environmentally responsible manner, for instance:

o using water-saving sanitary fittings, such as dual flushing cisterns and

photo-sensor water taps
o purchasing white paper with FSC certification only

o disposing of used paper which is good for recycling through a paper

recycling company

o employing multi-zone lighting controls
o returning used toners/cartridges to suppliers for recycling
o using environmentally friendly paper for printing corporate

communication to shareholders

o switching off air-conditioning, lights and computers when they are not

in use
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Environmental Issues (continued)

Initiatives (Continued)

For the purpose of matching up the Group’s concern over environmental
protection, iISQUARE, being the Group’s main business operation, also
takes proactive steps towards this end. During the year under review, it
participated in “Earth Hour 2020” as organised by WWF and provided
venue at a great discount to organisations for promoting ecology and
environmental conservation, such as Environmental Association and World
Green Organisation for hosting an ecology/culture exhibition and a paper

saving event respectively.

In addition to the aforesaid, iISQUARE keeps employing those green

measures it has been using, such as:

o use of ultra low sulphur diesel for generator
. diversion of used water from cooling towers for flushing
o reviewing and, where possible, shortening daily operating hours of

lights and air-conditioning at common areas accessible by shoppers

o encouraging tenants to follow guidelines in relation to environmentally
friendly practices and providing them with hints thereon through
iISQUARE publications

o recycling waste paper, plastics and metals via the participation of
the “Programme on Source Separation of Commercial and Industrial

Waste” as organised by the Environmental Protection Department

o equipping the building with energy saving features and materials,
such as the use of glass curtain walls to minimise lighting sources and
window films with anti-UV coating to reduce solar radiation and heat,

where appropriate
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Environmental Issues (continued)

Initiatives (Continued)

With the implementation of various energy saving initiatives during the year
under review, the amount of electricity purchased by iISQUARE from power
company and the indirect greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions generated
therefrom reduced by approximately 10.42% and 30.01% respectively (details
of which are shown in the table below) when compared with the baseline
figures of the financial year ended 31 March 2015, the first year energy

numbers were collected.

XERANFEAHETNZIAMERSR  BRES
RENRABEMNE ﬁ&lﬁtﬁﬁ?iﬁ’]?ﬂimﬁi
REHNEEBE_T-AF=A=1+—HLLH
E&EE(EDZIK%@%}EHuﬁ%%Z%i)E’J%#%ﬁ(

FHED R A 410.42% 2 30.01% (158 T
=) e

Year ended 31 March
HZESASIHILEE

2020 2019 2015
Issues Unit (Baseline)
=15 By (E%)
Amount of purchased electricity MWh 12,133.39 12,427.01 13,544.42
BEE IKEL/ N
Indirect GHG emissions from purchased electricity tonnes of CO, equivalent 6,066.69 6,337.78 8,668.43

REEMBENE I MEENBRRAEREBHNE AW —EIREE

To further reduce electricity consumption, iISQUARE will continue its energy
saving programme on lighting system through identification of locations

where more energy efficient lights could be installed.

In the coming financial year, ISQUARE will also keep exploring new green
measures and start recycling glass bottles by providing a few collection

points thereat.
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Environmental Issues (continued)

Performance

Since the Group is principally engaged in property investment and
investment holding, and iISQUARE is predominantly service-oriented, the
total amount of direct GHG emissions generated by them is relatively small.
The largest contributor to the carbon footprint of the Group (including
ISQUARE) in the year under review was the indirect GHG emissions from

electricity consumption.

1. GHG emissions' (CO, equivalent)

HRAREEIENRENEERERRERR - ME
BESAEIEUNRE AN EFFEENERAE
REBRFNERSD - RAFE  AREMmMES
HMEZ A EREBHEASE (BREERES) i
RN EZHR o

1. RERBHR (C&MAREE)

Year ended 31 March

Indicators Unit BZE3AMHLFE

it By 2020 2019

Direct sources (Scope 1)’

EEFR(EE)

* Diesel? tonnes 0.59 0.72
S LR

Indirect sources (Scope 2)'

AR (EE2)'

e Electricity® tonnes 6,098.96 6,370.51
B NI

Other indirect sources (Scope 3)'

BB (8E3)

e Electricity used for processing fresh water* tonnes 20.60 2517
BRI RI/KMERNE N’ N

e FElectricity used for processing sewage® tonnes 9.52 138.52
BRIR)5/KMmEAEE H° N

e Paper waste disposed at landfills® tonnes 0.92 1.46
EENHEEARR A RERS N

Total GHG emissions (Scopes 1, 2 and 3) tonnes 6,130.59 6,411.38

IRERSEBENE (HET - 2K%3) AME

GHG emissions avoided

BRNAE RN

e Recycling of paper’ tonnes (199.15) (202.85)
SR [ U7 N
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Environmental Issues (continued) RIEZE @)
Performance (Continued) FRIE @)
2. Energy consumption 2. BB
Year ended 31 March
Indicators Unit HBZE3ASIHILEE
EE By 2020 2019
Direct energy consumption
EERERHFE
e Diesel® MWh 2.49 3.02
Sy JK L N
Indirect energy consumption
EIEEEEFE
e Electricity® MWh 12,197.93 12,491.20
B° IEE /N
Total energy consumption MWh 12,200.42 12,494.22
BEIRERES YN
Total energy consumption per m? of floor area MWh/m? 0.23 0.24
Y HREHEEZ fERERES JCE N FT K
3. Paper consumption® 3. HRBEFET
Year ended 31 March
Indicators Unit BZE3AMHLFE
it B 2020 2019
e Office paper kg 532.85 552.43
WAERM N
e Paper for printing corporate communication kg 409.64 398.32
ENBUA RIBAN AR DF
Total paper consumption kg 942.49 950.75
BN E NI
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Environmental Issues (continued) 5 R ()
Performance (Continued) E3 10 )
4, Water consumption™ BKE"
Year ended 31 March
Indicators Unit HESANBLEE
it B 2020 2019
Total water consumption m? 48,565.00 62,309.00
BAKE STFK
Total water consumption per m? of floor area ms3/m? 0.92 117
B KEHEE FAKES SRR TR
As the Group is situated at ISQUARE where water is provided by the AAAREERFEMAREEYS  MBRE
Water Supplies Department, the Group (including iISQUARE) has not 2 WOKTIREKBEE - HAEE(BER
encountered any problem in sourcing water for daily operation. BES)EHEEELT RSB ERERER
AR -
Waste management 5 EY
Year ended 31 March
Indicators Unit BZE3ANBLEE
it B 2020 2019
Non-hazardous waste disposed at landfills'?
EERBEENEZEEY"?
Total non-hazardous waste disposed at landfills 1,695.50 1,975.95
EENHEERNESEEYEE
Total non-hazardous waste disposed at
landfills per m? of floor area tonnes/m? 0.03 0.04
BY A AEHEE ZEENEERNBEEEEYAE AW TR
Waste collected for recycling
BRI
e Paper'® kg 41,490.00 42,260.00
AR N
e Plastics™ kg 189.00 231.00
sEE AR
e Metals'® kg 151.00 179.00
BB NI
e Toners/cartridges'® pieces 10 17
e R (&5
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Environmental Issues (continued)
Performance (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

GHG emissions, including classification and calculation basis, are based on
the “Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes)
in Hong Kong” as prepared by the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department and the Environmental Protection Department (“Hong Kong GHG
Guidelines”). All numbers in this table, where applicable, are rounded to two
decimal places.

Boundary for the scopes

Scope 1 is the direct GHG emissions from the emergency generator owned
and controlled by iISQUARE. It excludes any offsets, if available.

Scope 2 is the indirect GHG emissions that are resulted from the generation
of electricity which the Group (including iISQUARE but excluding tenants which
purchased power through their own metered supply) purchased from power

company for own consumption.

Scope 3 is other indirect GHG emissions that (i) come from paper waste
disposed by the Group at landfills; and (i) are relevant to the activities of the
Group and ISQUARE and are generated due to electricity used for processing
fresh water and sewage, excluding those operated from tenants’ own metered
supply, by government departments.

The breakdown of Scope 1 GHG emissions in respect of the financial year
ended 31 March 2020 is as follows: carbon dioxide (0.59 tonnes of CO,
equivalent), methane (0.0001 tonnes of CO, equivalent) and nitrous oxide
(0.0005 tonnes of CO, equivalent).

Emissions are calculated as per the amount of diesel consumed by the
emergency generator of iISQUARE and the emission factors and the Global
Warming Potentials set out in the Hong Kong GHG Guidelines.

Emissions are calculated according to the amount of electricity purchased by
the Group (including ISQUARE) for own consumption as shown in electricity
bills and the latest emission factor as published by the relevant electricity
provider.

Emissions are calculated based on the amount of water consumed by the
Group (including ISQUARE) as shown in water bills, the latest available unit
electricity consumption of fresh water as published by the Water Supplies
Department and the territory-wide default value of purchased electricity.

Emissions are calculated based on the amount of water consumed by the
Group (including ISQUARE) as shown in water bills, the latest available unit
electricity consumption of processing sewage as published by the Drainage
Services Department and the territory-wide default value of purchased
electricity.
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Environmental Issues (continued)

Performance (Continued)

Note 6: Emissions are calculated based on the amount of office paper consumed by
the Group (excluding paper generated by the management company engaged
to run ISQUARE (“MgtCo”) for any purpose in relation to iISQUARE) net of
office paper collected for recycling and the relevant emission factor set out in
the Hong Kong GHG Guidelines.

Note 7:  Emissions avoided are calculated according to the amount of paper collected
for recycling (including paper generated within the Group, paper tendered by
external parties to the Group, and paper disposed through iISQUARE) and the
relevant emission factor provided in the Hong Kong GHG Guidelines.

Note 8: Energy consumption is calculated based on the amount of diesel consumed
by the emergency generator at iISQUARE and the relevant conversion factor
set out in the “List of common conversion factors (Engineering conversion
factors)” as published by IOR Energy Pty Ltd.

Note 9:  Energy consumption is the amount of electricity purchased by the Group
(including ISQUARE) for own consumption as shown in electricity bills.

Note 10: Referring to paper generated by the Group only (excluding paper generated
by the MgtCo for any purpose in relation to ISQUARE).

Note 11: Being the amount of water used by the Group (including ISQUARE) as shown

in water bills.

Note 12: Being the estimated amount of general waste disposed through iISQUARE,
including those generated by the Group. Such amount is derived based on
the aggregate of the average daily amount of general waste for (i) weekdays
and (i) weekends/public holidays as collected and weighed by the cleaning
contractor of iISQUARE at different time slots multiplied by the number of
relevant days in a year.

Note 13: Including paper generated within the Group, paper tendered by external
parties to the Group, and paper disposed through iISQUARE.

Note 14: Being plastics disposed through iSQUARE.

Note 15: Being metals disposed through iSQUARE.

Note 16: Being toners/cartridges used by the Group.

Due to their business nature, the Group (including iISQUARE) does not

generate a material amount of hazardous waste and disclosure of total

packaging material used for finished products is not applicable.
Save as disclosed above, the operating activities of the Group (including

iISQUARE) have no significant impact on the environment and natural

resources.
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Environmental Issues (continued)

Compliance with environmental-related laws and
regulations

During the year under review, the Group (including iISQUARE) was not aware
of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations relating to the
environment that had a significant impact on it.

Social Issues

Since the management of iISQUARE has been outsourced to the MgtCo
and there is no need for the Group to directly deal with employment-related
matters in respect of iISQUARE, discussion on areas relating to social issues
only covers the Group and does not include staff of the MgtCo employed for
general building and property management of ISQUARE.

Employment

As the Group’s success depends largely on the support of its employeeste,
the management places great emphasis on maintaining a quality workplace.
Building up a culture which advocates ethical and responsible business
practices has become essential. To this end, the Group has adopted a
general code of conduct (“Code”) which applies to both Directors and
employees and deals with areas of data privacy, copyright protection,
prevention of bribery, “whistle-blowing” and equal opportunities. According
to the Code, employees are required to observe the requirements of the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance, the Disability Discrimination Ordinance, the Family
Status Discrimination Ordinance and the Race Discrimination Ordinance and
their respective codes of practice. In addition, the Group has laid down an
employment policy, setting out its principles on recruitment and promotion,
such as equal opportunities and “selection on capability” basis. Procedures
and factors to be considered on review of the remuneration packages of the
senior management are delineated in the remuneration policy. Information in
respect of the Group’s remuneration review mechanism is mentioned in the
Corporate Governance Report headed “Remuneration committee” as set out
on pages 15 to 17. To be consistent with the principles of the employment
policy on motivating employees and providing equal opportunities,
performance appraisal is conducted annually. It is the basis for salary
adjustment, discretionary bonus and promotion.

Although policies on compensation and dismissal, working hours and rest
periods, and some other benefits and welfare are not put in writing, relevant
steps to govern their application and due observance have been developed
and implemented under the management of the Executive Directors of the
Company.

Note: Staff/employees exclude Directors of the Company and staff employed by the
MgtCo for general building and property management of iSQUARE throughout
this Corporate Social Responsibility Report.
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Social Issues (continued)

Development and training

In order to create a supportive workplace which enables the employees to
develop their professional potential and discharge their duties adequately,
the Group provides subsidy for job-related training to all full-time employees,
irrespective of their rankings. Given the complexity of job duties, senior
management is provided with additional funding for outside training. Other
than financial support, the Group also organises group-wide training for its

staff from time to time.

Key topics covered by the training undertaken by the employees during the

year under review included:
° compliance and regulatory refresher
o health issues

Employee engagement

Since a good work-life balance is considered significant to the employees,
the Group encourages its staff to complete their tasks within office hours
and organises gatherings for them so as to promote the spirit of the Group.
During the year under review, the Company invited not only its staff but
also their family members and friends to participate in charity run and movie

premiere hosted by Po Leung Kuk with a view to promoting wellness.

Understanding its employees’ concerns, the Company had also reviewed
and enhanced its Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme. During the financial
year ended 31 March 2020, the Company was awarded “Good MPF
Employer” by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority.

Although the Group does not have a collective bargaining policy or similar
practice in place, it respects its employees and takes steps to ensure their
voices are heard. Other than departmental meetings and communication
through emails, the Group encourages direct dialogue between the
management and staff by adopting a non-bureaucratic culture. Employees
can freely bring up issues to the management when they consider

necessary.

Employee satisfaction survey is another important means for the Group
to solicit staff opinions about their work environment and expectation.
Result is shared by the management so as to identify ways to make further

improvement.
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Social Issues (continued)

Employee engagement (Continued)

During the year under review, a satisfaction survey on employees was
conducted. Over 83% (2019: 77%) of the respondents found either satisfied
or very satisfied with the Group as a whole whilst about 80% (2019: 71%)
was happy with the workforce-management relationship. As at 31 March
2020, around two-thirds of the employees have been working with the
Group over a decade. The employee turnover rate for the financial year
ended 31 March 2020 was about 9.68% (2019: 3.17%) while the employee
absence rate was around 1.50% (2019: 1.72%).

Health and safety

Since the Group’s main business is property investment and investment
holding, health and safety risks posed to its employees as a result of
occupational activities are relatively low. Nevertheless, the Group is
dedicated to provide a healthy and safe work environment to its staff and

therefore has established a policy in this regard with an emphasis on:
o compliance with all applicable statutory requirements

o ensuring a continuous improvement of the health and safety level
at workplace by reviewing the operating practices and seeking
comments from employees from time to time

o adopting measures which can reduce, control and if possible,

eliminate hazards at workplace

o conveying the Group’s concerns over health and safety to the MgtCo
and requesting it to get its front-line staff and contractors familiarised

with the proper procedure required in that regard

For the purpose of providing clear guidelines to and ensuring safety of
employees, the Group, during the year under review, revised and formalised
work arrangements in times of typhoons and adverse weather conditions.
Subsequent to the outbreak of COVID-19, it also implemented special
measures in the workplace with the aim to reduce contact among co-
workers/employees whereby lower the risk of infection to staff. Although
initiatives taken varied from time to time, they included work-from-home
arrangement, change of office operating hours and meetings held by
electronic means.

Despite the relatively low occupational risks faced by employees, the
Group organised a talk delivered by the Labour Department and circulated
pamphlets concerning occupational health to staff during the year under
review.
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Social Issues (continued)

Labour standards

While the Group does not have its own specific policy regarding child labour
or forced labour, it is a statutory requirement in Hong Kong, a place where

the Group operates, not to engage child and forced labour.

During the year under review, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had a significant
impact on it relating to employment, health and safety, and labour standards

as mentioned in aspects B1, B2 and B4 of the Guide.

Supply chain management

Given the Group’s business nature and operation mode, its suppliers can
broadly be categorised into direct suppliers and indirect suppliers. For the
former one, it refers to those the Group directly liaises with, such as the
MgtCo, professional service providers and some other companies that
deliver services for support of the Group’s infrastructure and office operation
on areas such as insurance, banking and information technology. Services
of the indirect suppliers, such as electrical and mechanical engineering,
cleaning and security, are provided under the umbrella of the MgtCo. Based
on the expenditure level and the significance to the Group, the Group’s key
suppliers are bankers and the MgtCo, of which, the role of the latter one is
particularly important given its “contracting” relationships with the indirect

suppliers.

Since suppliers are the “extension” of the Group, their behaviour shall reflect
the Group’s values. Although the Group does not maintain a separate
policy on managing environmental and social risks of its suppliers, it has
embedded the relevant concerns in its environmental policy and health and
safety policy. As the MgtCo is the key supplier which poses a significant
impact on the Group, it is provided with relevant policies of the Group in the
hope that it can convey the Group’s concerns to the indirect suppliers. The
MgtCo is also requested to integrate the Group’s values into its operation
process where practicable and economically viable. Apart from written
communication, the Group has frequent direct dialogue and regular meetings
with the MgtCo. According to the said policies, the Group also reviews
its practices from time to time so as to reduce health and safety risks at
workplace and incorporates environmental considerations into contracting

decisions where practicable.
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Social Issues (continued)

Supply chain management (Continued)

Although more than 65% of the suppliers have been a working partner of
the Group over a decade, the Group values the relationships with them
and is eager to know if there is any room for improvement. To achieve it, a
satisfaction survey was sent to some suppliers on a random basis during the
year under review. The feedback of the survey was encouraging. It showed
that all (2019: 83%) the respondents found partnering with the Group was

not merely mutually beneficial, but also as a whole satisfactory.

Product/service responsibility

Shop tenants of ISQUARE are the Group’s key customers. Establishing a
sound and lasting relationship with them is pivotal to the success of the
Group. To facilitate a two-way communication, the management team pays
visits to the shops when required so as to exchange views with the tenants
directly and respond to their concerns efficiently. The tenants can also
contact the management, leasing and promotion teams via telephone and
email as and when needed. As a means to ensure tenants’ dissatisfaction,
if any, is properly addressed to in a timely manner, a formal complaint-
handling mechanism is in place as well. From the interaction with tenants, it
is noted that there are some areas such as management services the Group
has to further work on. With the aim of maintaining a long-term business
partnership with tenants, the Company reviews its strategies from time to
time and adopts special measures in extraordinary situation. During the
financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Company offered short-term relief
to tenants in view of the difficult operating environment subsequent to the

emergence of COVID-19 and local social incidents.

Other than customer relations, the Group also recognises the importance
of personal data protection. Relevant concerns have been incorporated into
the Code and are communicated to the employees. According to the Code,
employees are required to safeguard the privacy and security of personal
information of the Group’s stakeholders by observing the data protection
principles of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. Collected information is
accessible on a “need-to-know” basis. In view of the close relationship with
the MgtCo, the Group has also made known to it of the Group’s concerns in

this regard.
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Social Issues (continued)

Product/service responsibility (continued)

Providing a safe environment to the tenants is also a great concern to the
Group. Although property management of ISQUARE is the job of the MgtCo,
the Group still closely monitors it by receiving updates from the MgtCo via
regular project meetings and daily report. On top of it, the project team also
patrols ISQUARE on a daily basis so as to ensure it is managed in an orderly
fashion. As for ad hoc issues, the MgtCo is required to report to the Group

promptly.

Anti-corruption

As the Group has zero-tolerance on any forms of bribery, corruption and
fraud, it has established a policy detailing situations in which acceptance of
advantages is allowed. Key principles concerning prevention of bribery and
channel for reporting suspected cases are set out in the Code. Employees
are required to undertake their adherence thereto. Besides, internal control
activities are in place to detect malpractices. Upon receipt of any reported
issues, the management will conduct investigation and handle them in the

manner set out in the Code.

To help staff stay alert to the pitfall of bribery and enhance their integrity, the
Group during the year circulated a leaflet published by Hong Kong Business

Ethics Development Centre to all its staff.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on it relating to product responsibility and anti-corruption as

mentioned in aspects B6 and B7 of the Guide.
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Social Issues (continued)

Community

In recognition of its role in advancement of the community, the Group has
established a community policy. General principles on donation, focus areas,
and the form in which the support is delivered are clearly set out therein.
During the year under review, the Group made donations to Po Leung Kuk,
The Community Chest of Hong Kong, Greeners Action, HKEX Foundation
Limited, Food for Good Limited and Hong Kong Reed Care Counseling
Association Limited. To put words into actions, not only did the Group
mobilise its staff to take part in “Po Leung Kuk Charity Run” and “Dress
Casual Day” as organised by Po Leung Kuk and The Community Chest of
Hong Kong respectively, it also donated all computers being replaced to

Caritas Computer Workshop and Lo Yau Fong Compuserv Charity Limited.

The Group believes that going beyond corporate philanthropy by providing
venues to organisations for hosting charitable events is the best way to help
the needy as it can inspire others to follow and draw the public attention to
the needs of the underprivileged. During the financial year ended 31 March

2020, the Group offered venues at a great discount to the following charities:

o Environmental Association

o Green Power

o Médecins Sans Frontiéres

o MF Music & Art Promotional Association

o World Green Organisation

Other than giving support to individual charities for hosting specific events,
the Group also showed its continuous care to the local community by
granting Po Leung Kuk, an iconic charity in Hong Kong, a licence for placing

a donation box at iISQUARE throughout the year in question.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRS

The Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) submits herewith the
annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Group for

the year ended 31 March 2020.

Principal Place of Business

Associated International Hotels Limited (the “Company”) is a company
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and has its registered office and
principal place of business at 9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company are property investment and
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the

subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as
the “Group”) during the financial year is set out in note 4 to the financial

statements.

Financial Statements
The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020
and the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the financial

statements on pages 83 to 146.
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Dividends and Annual General Meeting

An interim dividend of HK$0.56 per share (2019: HK$0.58 per share) was
paid on 7 January 2020. The Board now recommends the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.25 per share (2019: HK$0.57 per share) in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2020.

Subject to the members’ approval on the proposed final dividend at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members of the
Company will be closed for the purpose of determining entitlement to
the said final dividend from Wednesday, 16 September 2020 to Friday,
18 September 2020, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares will be effected. All transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Tuesday, 15 September
2020. The proposed final dividend will be paid on Monday, 5 October 2020
to members whose names appear on the register of members on Friday,
18 September 2020 following approval at the annual general meeting to be

held on Thursday, 10 September 2020.

For the purpose of determining the identity of members who are entitled
to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 3 September
2020 to Thursday, 10 September 2020, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. All transfers accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Wednesday,
2 September 2020.
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Business Review and Commentary

Business model and strategies

The Group’s business is property investment in Hong Kong. The Group
generates and preserves its value through being an investor in the property

market.

To accomplish this, the Group strives to nurture growth from its existing
properties through prudent management. Whilst the Group generally
maintains a prudent and conservative approach towards property
investment, it also seeks to exploit opportunities for future development. With
the aim of securing stable and recurring returns, the Group has adopted
very stringent investment criteria and targets only high quality projects and

investments.

The Group recognises the importance of sound financial strength to support
sustainable growth and future development and hence, its fundamental
strategy is to maintain a solid financial position with strong cash flows and a

low gearing ratio.

Financial results

The Group achieved a profit from operations before valuation changes
in investment properties of HK$477.0 million for the financial year ended
31 March 2020, representing a decrease of approximately 4.6% compared
with the previous financial year. The decrease was mainly due to decrease in
rental income from ISQUARE compared to the previous financial year. In view
of the continuing social unrest and the outbreak of the novel coronavirus
(COVID-19) in Hong Kong, the Group has granted various short-term rental
concessions to most of the tenants, which in turn have caused a negative
impact to the cash flows of the Group. For accounting standard purposes,
all short-term rental concessions are being amortised over the remaining

terms of the respective leases.

Net valuation losses on investment properties for the financial year ended
31 March 2020 amounted to HK$1,306.3 million, compared with the net
valuation losses of HK$266.0 million for the previous financial year. The
valuation losses will only affect the accounting profit or loss but not the cash

flows of the Group.
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Business Review and Commentary (continued)
Financial results (continued)

The Group recorded a loss attributable to equity shareholders of
HK$912.9 million, compared with a profit attributable to equity shareholders

of HK$148.5 million for the previous financial year.

iISQUARE is a commercial complex housing retail, entertainment, food
and beverage establishments. Rental income from iISQUARE amounted to
approximately HK$585.4 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2020,
representing a decrease of approximately 3.5% compared with the previous
financial year. The occupancy rate at 31 March 2020 was approximately
87.2% (2019: 92.9%).

Capital structure and liquidity
The total equity for the Group at 31 March 2020 was HK$12,282.9 million,
compared with HK$13,602.6 million at 31 March 2019.

On 7 October 2013, the Company entered into a facility agreement with
a bank comprising of a 3-year term loan facility of up to HK$200 million
and a 3-year revolving loan facility of up to HK$100 million both at floating
interest rate. On 30 August 2016, the Company entered into a supplemental
agreement with the bank for extension of the facilities for three years to
8 October 2019. In compliance with certain conditions, the facilities have been
further extended for two additional years to 8 October 2021. At 31 March 2020,
the banking facilities were utilised to the extent of HK$200 million
(2019: HK$200 million) and the Group's gearing ratio (calculated as total
bank loans divided by total equity) was 1.6% (2019: 1.5%).

Staff

At 31 March 2020, the total number of employees of the Group, excluding
the staff employed by Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited
for general building and property management of iISQUARE, was 36 (2019:
36) and the related costs incurred during the year were approximately
HK$27.7 million (2019: HK$26.5 million).

In addition to salaries, medical and retirement benefits, the Group pays
discretionary bonuses to its staff. Sponsorships for necessary outside

training courses are also provided by the Group to its staff.
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Business Review and Commentary (continued)
Key performance indicators
(@  Cost of services to revenue ratio

Definition and calculation: Cost of services to revenue ratio
measures the operation efficiency by comparing cost of
services as a percentage of revenue. It shows the level of direct

expenditure required to generate every dollar of revenue.

Purpose: The Group emphasises cost control. The ratio
provides direction on controlling and better using expenses.
iISQUARE is the principal investment of the Group and it
contributed 99.5% of the Group’s revenue for the financial year
ended 31 March 2020 (2019: 99.4%). The extent to which this
goal has been achieved is assessed by comparing the ratio
for iISQUARE from one year to the next, as it is an indicator
showing the operation efficiency of ISQUARE.

Quantified KPI data: The cost of services to revenue ratio for
ISQUARE at 31 March 2020 was 15.5% (2019: 14.2%).

(b)  Occupancy rate

Definition and calculation: Occupancy rate is a measure that
reflects the leasing performance. It is defined as lettable area
that have been rented out as a percentage of the total lettable

area.

Purpose: The Group aims to enhance leasing performance.
The extent to which this goal has been achieved is assessed by
comparing occupancy rate for each investment property from
one year to the next, as it is an indicator showing the leasing
performance of various properties in the Group.

Quantified KPI data:
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Other commercial properties in Hong Kong A Z 4 8) E fih pg 2 4 % 0%* 100%

*

The tenant has early terminated the lease in January 2020.
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Business Review and Commentary (continued)
Environmental policies, performance and related
compliance; key relationships with stakeholders
Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
compliance with environmental-related laws and regulations as well as
key relationships with its stakeholders as required by Schedule 5 to the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance can be found in the Corporate Social
Responsibility Report on pages 39 to 55 of the annual report, and such

discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group as
required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance can be
found in the Corporate Governance Report headed “Risk Management
and Internal Control — Principal risks and uncertainties” as set out on
pages 25 to 30 of the annual report, and such discussion forms part of this

Directors’ Report.

Particulars of important events
The Board has not identified any important events affecting the Group that

have occurred since the end of the financial year.

Outlook

With the social unrest continuing in Hong Kong and in recent months, the
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has caused significant disruptions for retailers
and restaurant operators in Hong Kong. This is causing an adverse impact

on the Hong Kong leasing market.

Management will continue to take appropriate measures to cope with
current situation. It is anticipated that the adverse impact on rental income
from iISQUARE and the results from operations of the Group for the coming

financial year will continue.
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Directors
The Directors of the Company during the financial year and up to the date of

this report were:

Executive Directors
Cheong Hooi Hong
Cheong Kheng Lim
Cheong Keng Hooi
Cheong Sim Lam

Cheong Chong Ling

Non-executive Director
Sin Cho Chiu, Charles (vacated from office with effect from 26 June 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Chow Wan Hoi, Paul

Wong Yiu Tak

Lee Chung

In accordance with articles 95 and 96 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, Mr Cheong Keng Hooi and Mr Wong
Yiu Tak shall retire from the Board by rotation at the forthcoming annual

general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
During the financial year and up to the date of this report, directors of all the

Company’s subsidiaries were Mr Cheong Hooi Hong, Mr Cheong Kheng

Lim, Mr Cheong Keng Hooi and Mr Cheong Sim Lam.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

The executive directors (except Miss Cheong Chong Ling) were appointed
to their respective executive offices in the Company for an initial period of
two years effective on 1 January 1986 and their appointments continue after
the said period unless and until either party gives to the other three months’
notice in writing and their respective directorship shall also be subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s

Articles of Association.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of

compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and considers all the independent non-

executive directors to be independent.

Interests and Short Positions of Directors and
Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures

As at 31 March 2020, the directors and chief executives of the Company
and their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had the following
interests in the shares of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model

Code”):
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Interests and Short Positions of Directors and EENREBESTHAEER®G
Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares MHEROMNEEZFTIOEZR
and Debentures (continued) KA @)
(@) The Company (@ ZA&AAF
Number of ordinary shares
ZEREE
Total % of total
Personal Family beneficial issued voting
interests interests interests shares
HEHITH
BRERE
B RGEBE
Name i B AR REER e HES
Cheong Hooi Hong EEE 2,073,992 - 2,073,992 0.58%
Cheong Kheng Lim SBERIR 24,555,715 1,034,000 25,589,715 711%
Cheong Keng Hooi B 11,759,839 275,280 12,035,119 3.34%
Cheong Sim Lam fzkedes| 1,807,155 24,000 1,831,155 0.51%
Cheong Chong Ling 4 1,588,000 - 1,588,000 0.44%
(b) Tian Teck Land Limited (b) KEHEARRDF
Number of shares
ROEEE
Total % of total
Personal Family beneficial issued voting
interests interests interests shares
HEHITH
BRERE
B RGBE
Name ®H B AR KEER wme WESL
Cheong Hooi Hong EEIE 4,035,792 590,000 4,625,792 0.97%
Cheong Kheng Lim FEIRM 46,023,872 115,292 46,139,164 9.72%
Cheong Keng Hooi e 26,862,036 1,002,384 27,864,420 5.87%
Cheong Sim Lam fzEedes] 1,099,504 — 1,099,504 0.23%
Cheong Chong Ling i 412,000 - 412,000 0.09%
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Interests and Short Positions of Directors and EERERTHRAEER®G
Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares MHEROANEEZFTIHIEZR
and Debentures (continued) KA @)
(c) Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited ) REHRQF
Number of ordinary shares
ZEREE
Total % of total
Personal Family beneficial issued voting
interests interests interests shares
HEHITH
BRERE
Enfs RGEBE
Name ] B AR RERERE e HEDL
Cheong Hooi Hong fEESE 25 — 25 25%
Cheong Kheng Lim SBERIR 25 — 25 25%
Cheong Keng Hooi B 25 - 25 25%
Cheong Sim Lam fefede] 25 — 25 25%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the directors and
chief executives of the Company or their associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Interests and Short Positions of Substantial
Shareholders and Other Persons in Shares and
Underlying Shares

As at 31 March 2020, other than the interests of the directors and chief
executives of the Company as disclosed above, the Company has been
notified of the following interests in the shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO:

FERREEMATERGME
B PR AR

BRERFEEZARREERSTSTHAERN
RO ARFEBRA - WRIET IRBESKEN
EHEBMELHERAELMOBERER R
TEEF- A+ ABEARRRM 2R
E-S NN

Number of Percentage of total

ordinary shares issued voting shares

HERITH

BEREERD

ZERHE BENEDL

Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited KEFR AT 180,030,681 50.01%

(Note 1)(5¥1)

Tian Teck Land Limited KiEMEER AR 180,030,681 50.01%
(Note 1)(5%1)
Cheong Kheng Lim SBIEAMR 25,589,715 7.11%
(Note 2)(7F2)
Lim Yoke Soon ME % 25,589,715 7.11%
(Note 2)(7F2)
Notes: e
1) The register of interests and short positions in shares kept under section 336 of (1) R E 5 5D B 33615 M B F M B D i 2 ROA B B R

the SFO indicates that the interest disclosed by Tian Teck Investment Holding
Co., Limited is the same as the 180,030,681 shares disclosed by Tian Teck
Land Limited.

2) The interest disclosed by Mr Cheong Kheng Lim is the same as the 25,589,715
shares disclosed by Ms Lim Yoke Soon. Out of the 25,589,715 shares,
24,555,715 shares were held by Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, and 1,034,000 shares
were held by his spouse, Ms Lim Yoke Soon.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, no other interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company required to be
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO

have been notified to the Company.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the

Company, its parent company or controlling shareholders or any of their

respective subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company

or an entity connected with him (within the meaning of section 486 of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) had a material interest (whether directly

or indirectly), was entered into in the year or subsisted at the end of the year

or at any time during the year.

Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules

(@

Due to allowances for expenses actually incurred and salary
adjustment, the directors’ emoluments of the following directors
for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 have changed when

compared with those for the last financial year:

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong’s emoluments increased by
HK$344,000 to HK$2,642,000.

Mr Cheong Kheng Lim’s emoluments decreased by
HK$163,000 to HK$3,154,000"" ", of which, HK$2,761,000
(2019: HK$2,814,000) was covered by his service contract with

the Company as chief operation officer.

Mr Cheong Keng Hooi’s emoluments increased by
HK$27,000 to HK$1,951,000, of which, HK$1,760,000 (2019:
HK$1,743,000) was covered by his service contract with the

Company as chief project officer.

Mr Cheong Sim Lam’s emoluments decreased by HK$101,000
to HK$2,094,000, of which, HK$1,789,000 (2019:
HK$1,816,000) was covered by his service contract with the

Company as chief investment officer.
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Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules (Continued)

(@

Notes:

(Continued)

o Miss Cheong Chong Ling’s emoluments increased by
HK$313,000 to HK$1,953,000™°?, of which, HK$1,201,000
(2019: HK$1,001,000) was covered by her service contract with

the Company as chief administration officer.

Despite the above changes, the Company’s policy regarding directors’

emoluments has not changed.

Given that the director’'s emoluments of Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles
were paid on a pro rata basis up to 26 June 2019, i.e. the date on
which he ceased to be a non-executive director, and a member of
the audit committee and remuneration committee of the Company,
his director’'s emoluments for the financial year ended 31 March 2020
decreased by HK$329,000 to HK$101,000 compared with those for
the last financial year. Of the said HK$101,000, HK$89,000 (2019:
HK$380,000) was paid under Mr Sin’s contract with the Company for

serving on the board committees.

Excluding the benefit in respect of the residential property provided by the
Company pursuant to the director’s service contract. As at 31 March 2020,
the estimated annual rental value of the property was HK$1,581,000
(81 March 2019: HK$1,581,000).

Excluding the benefit in respect of the residential property provided by the
Company pursuant to the director’s service contract. As at 31 March 2020,
the estimated annual rental value of the property was HK$1,569,000
(31 March 2019: HK$1,569,000).
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Indemnity of Directors
A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors of the Company is currently in

force and was in force throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2020.

Management Contracts

(@  The Company has an administrative services agreement and also
a non-administrative services agreement, each for an indefinite
period, with its immediate holding company, Tian Teck Land Limited,
whereby the Company agrees to provide, respectively, company
secretarial services (under the administrative services agreement) and
office space and various staff (under the non-administrative services
agreement). The aggregate fees received by the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2020 amounted to HK$1,200,000 (2019:
HK$1,200,000).

(b) A management agreement exists between the Company and
Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited whereby
this management company is responsible for general building and
property management (except for the services relating to tenancy)
of ISQUARE. The management agreement was renewed for a term
of twelve months commencing on 6 August 2012 and shall be
automatically renewed on an annual basis thereafter, subject to the
right of termination by the Company. Manager’s remuneration of
HK$600,000 (2019: HK$600,000) was paid by the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2020.

Apart from the foregoing, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the

Company was entered into or existed during the year.
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Fixed Assets EEE

Particulars of the investment properties of the Group are set out as follows: REBRREMSENT -

Properties held for leasing and capital appreciation HERSEARLFHY
Location Existing use Term of lease
b 2 REMZE HEFH
iISQUARE (excluding an office on 9th Floor) Shopping centre Medium

63 Nathan Road,

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

(Kowloon Inland Lot No. 7425)

RES (MEELRNVENRAE) BT A
MBS BCE N+ =57

(JLBEIBER 742555 )

Good Luck Industrial Building Workshops and Medium
Unit A on the Ground and 1st Floor, car parking spaces

and Car Parking Spaces Nos.

L1, L2, L3 & L4 on the Ground Floor,

105 How Ming Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon

(Kwun Tong Inland Lot No. 22)

FETENE s RIFER A
HTABR - —HEAER

LT~ L2 ~ L3R LAFERL

NEBETDRE-AZTHR

(BB AR 225%)

Euro Trade Centre Offices Long
5th Floor,

Nos. 13-14 Connaught Road Central and

Nos. 21-23 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

(Marine Lot No. 366)

BIREE S N £
hiE

ERTHERF =2 TR E
EEEP _—_t—E =5
(g5 EL3665% )
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Major Customers and Suppliers
During the year, the five largest suppliers and five largest customers of the
Group accounted for less than 30% by value of the Group’s total purchases

and sales respectively.

Bank Loan and Other Borrowings
Particulars of bank loan and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2020

are set out in notes 20 to 22 to the financial statements.

Retirement Schemes
Particulars of the retirement schemes are set out in note 25 to the financial

statements.

Charitable Donations
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$435,000 (2019: HK$523,000).

Purchase, Sale or Redemption by the Company
and its Subsidiaries of its Listed Securities
There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the Company’s listed

securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the

Listing Rules.
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Five Year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the

last five financial years is set out on pages 147 to 148 of the annual report.

Auditor

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the Company is to

be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Cheong Hooi Hong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSEEEAESEABE

Executive Directors

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong, aged 73, has been the Chairman and a director
of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited since 1984 and 1983
respectively. He currently is the Chief Executive Officer and the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited. He
is also a director of Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited and various
subsidiaries in the Group. Mr Cheong is a member of both the CPA Australia
and the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore. He holds a
diploma from the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology in Commerce. He
has extensive experience in property development and investment both in

Hong Kong and Singapore for over 50 years.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Kheng Lim, Cheong Keng Hooi

and Cheong Sim Lam.

Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, aged 71, has been the Deputy Chairman and a
director of the Company since 1984. He has been the Deputy Chairman
and a director of Tian Teck Land Limited since 1983 and 1969 respectively.
He currently is the Chief Operation Officer of the Company and a member
of the nomination committee of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited.
Mr Cheong is also a director of Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited

and various subsidiaries in the Group.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong, Cheong Keng Hooi
and Cheong Sim Lam and is also the father of Miss Cheong Chong Ling, a

director.

Mr Cheong Keng Hooi, aged 67, has been a director of the Company and
Tian Teck Land Limited since 1984 and 1983 respectively. He is the Chief
Project Officer of the Company. He is also a director of Tian Teck Investment
Holding Co., Limited and various subsidiaries in the Group. Mr Cheong
holds a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration from the University of

Hawaii.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong, Cheong Kheng Lim

and Cheong Sim Lam.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EEE5EBEEASBASE

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr Cheong Sim Lam, aged 61, has been a director of the Company and
Tian Teck Land Limited since 1984 and 1983 respectively. He is the Chief
Investment Officer of the Company. He is also a director of Tian Teck
Investment Holding Co., Limited and various subsidiaries in the Group. He
obtained a certificate in Accounting and General Business from Kapiolani

Community College, Hawaii and has over 40 years of working experience.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong, Cheong Kheng Lim

and Cheong Keng Hooi.

Miss Cheong Chong Ling (also known as Cheong Chong Ling
Diamond), aged 49, joined the Company as an assistant to directors
in 1997. She has been a director of the Company and Tian Teck Land
Limited since 2007. She is the Chief Administration Officer of the Company.
Miss Cheong holds a degree of Bachelor of Science from the School of

Hotel Administration at Cornell University.

She is the daughter of Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, a director.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul, aged 64, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited since 2004. He
currently also serves on the audit committee (as chairman), remuneration
committee (as chairman) and nomination committee (as member) of the
Company and Tian Teck Land Limited. Mr Chow has significant experience
in accounting and finance and has been an Associate of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales since 1983 and an Associate
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia since 1988 and is a

member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr Wong Yiu Tak, aged 73, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited in 2017.
He currently also serves on the audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited.
Mr Wong holds a degree of Bachelor of Science (Honours) from The
University of Hong Kong and a Master of Law from Peking University. He is
now a serving solicitor in Hong Kong and a consultant to Messrs. S.K. Wong

& Co., Solicitors & Notaries.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr Lee Chung, aged 46, has been an independent non-executive director of
the Company since 2004. He currently also serves on the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company.
Mr Lee holds a degree of Bachelor of Science in Engineering from Colorado
School of Mines in the United States and a MBA degree from the University
of Warwick in the United Kingdom. He has extensive experience in venture

capital and property investment in the United States, Israel and PRC.

Senior Management

Miss Chan Mei Yee, CPA, aged 43, is the accounting manager of
the Company. She holds an honours degree of Bachelor of Business
Administration and a degree of Master of Arts from City University of Hong
Kong. She has nearly 20 years of experience in accounting and auditing.
Prior to joining the Company in 2004, she worked for one of the big four

accounting firms.

Miss Susan Chan So Some, aged 69, joined the Company in 1987 and
has been the financial controller since 1990. Prior to joining the Company,
Miss Chan was a chief accountant of the Company’s ultimate holding
company. She has over 40 years of experience in accounting and financial

management.

Mr Choi Ming Kwan, aged 63, joined the Group in 1981 and has been the

Company’s project manager since 1990.

Ms Ng Sau Fong, ACIS, ACS, aged 50, holds a degree of Bachelor of Arts
from The University of Hong Kong. Ms Ng joined the Company in 1992 as
assistant to directors and has been the company secretary of the Company
and Tian Teck Land Limited since 2004.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

BB R &

KPMG

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members
of Associated International Hotels Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Associated
International Hotels Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 83 to 146, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2020, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2020 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the

context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and

B EL SR

MAREZFERRERMANERAE - RBYAX
MG AR BHREANECRAERNER - LR
HARERMECERFAMBHRRRLAZAR
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in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 8o

these matters.

Valuation of investment properties

REMENMGE

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy in note 1(d).

BiFa BN 12R EFHENT1(d) °

The key audit matter
HRELENR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRANEZNTREZEE

The Group holds a portfolio of investment properties
located in Hong Kong. The principal component of the
Group’s investment properties is ISQUARE, a shopping and
entertainment complex located in Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong.
EEERERFARERENR - GLREMENTE
ERE D RERES - BRESUREERDE 22—
BEFAREREDD DO -

Management’s assessment of the fair value of investment
properties is based on valuations performed by an external
property valuer in accordance with recognised industry
standards.

E IR B R BINE Y E B AR BR AR AT # S IR RTHETT
BEE  FHEREMENRAEE -

One of the key drivers of the valuation of investment
properties is rental income which can be volatile, particularly
in light of the current economic status of the retail industry in
Hong Kong.

REMEGENHD -BAREDERXTFERPNME
WA - FRRERE N EETE XML -

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment
properties included the following:

PR EREMEHENBLEFERATES

° assessing the external property valuer’s qualifications,
experience and expertise in the properties being valued,
and considering their objectivity and independence;
FHAEINEMERERMNER - EREHENER R
EERAH - ARZRETHIENBELIL

° obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared
by the external property valuer engaged by the Group on
which the management’s assessment of the fair value of
investment properties was based;
MBinEhEEEEENIMNEGERMRE IR ETE
REMENRABEMRROGERS

o discussing with the external property valuer the valuation
methodology and key estimates and assumptions
adopted in the valuations;

EOMNE L ER R R E A ETERMMETARANER
CRPSCEE
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Valuation of investment properties

REMENMGE

A EIE )

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy in note 1(d).

BFa BB T 12R G ENT1(d) °

The key audit matter
BREELER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANEZNTREZEE

We identified valuation of the Group’s investment properties
as a key audit matter because the valuation of investment
properties is inherently subjective and requires significant
judgement and estimation which increases the risk of error or
potential management bias.
HMEESENREMELE RBEREZERE AR
REMEGEFEERXBXD - WEFES R HE
AfEE - MG T LS E R B AR R e R o

with the assistance of our internal property valuation
specialists, on a sample basis evaluating the valuation
methodology applied by the external property valuer and
challenging the key estimates and assumptions adopted
in the valuations, including capitalisation rates, prevailing
market rents and comparable market transactions, by
comparing the key estimates and assumptions used
by the external property valuer in the valuation of each
investment property with market available data and/or
government produced market statistics; and
EHMOABDEGLBEAENHET - AHERF
ST NS P 3 (B RD P ER AR B iR (B 5 A N33 B EL B9
By REEMESREMEMETRBNEIZMER
RRER] B TIHEE KRBT REO TS
g HEETARANIEGATIRR(BEER
e - BITHMISHESMAI LB TSR 5 ) REE
B M

comparing, on a sample basis, the tenancy information,
including committed rents and occupancy rates, provided
by the Group to the external property valuer with
underlying contracts and documentation.
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Information Other Than the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
Thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise

appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concemn and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative

but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the audit committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report B &8sk &

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made

by the directors.

Associated International Hotels Limited S)\EEIFEEA R A T

BB ERERE
MEE

BZMNER  REGRAUBHREREBES A
R FE SR AR T B B A B R RRLEG & B R
= WHHARERMERNZEMBRS - HM2
?ﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁ(’&Ej{'%1§']>>%405ﬂ%ﬁ'\ﬁﬁi REAEES) 199
83} Bt BASD + IR RS AT B EE 4D AR
e ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%?ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬂ’\]mg CEME R EMA L
BENEELEEET -

B IRk AE

i%1 EREKFHRE - ETERBLIB(ER
ADETHER - EX -BRERRAFE
IR o SEERIRALFT At ERFF S BERR BI AL
AIETARIEFIE R S E AR R A BE R BIR A
R (E A KA B TS IR P AF L e AEBOR
B SRR AT RAR R ENX ©

op ?%“? ﬁw

/& 5 F B D
S om &

E-KH-

af

\J

ERBCEBEAERDETEZERES - T
ERFEXRNHE AR ERNRRERE - BPIT

o RAIAFHEEEFFRERME BT S MR
RIFEERERBANEAR - ReTRATHE
PREFF AR S B LA - A MIEE ST R A0

ENERERE  FRERMBRNER - AR
MEFRIRE S M BRR - i - EE0ER Jﬁfﬁi
Rl - sZBERAEREE 2 b FIARRE
HAEY Eﬁfﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬁij@a%&ﬁ%kmﬂﬂm
AL BRI FRM G B AR BRI,

e o
N

o TREEZHEOANEEE  ARESRE
BATEENEZEF - B8 E’JI?E%TEJK
BB BEH KRB R -

o IEEFEMRASFBENBE L RAEL
GEHEET AR EN AR -



Independent Auditor’s Report B M &8sk &

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the

Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought

to bear on our independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

2B AT B AR A B RS SRR AR IE

HEE @)

o HEERERECLEHEBORE Y
i o RIBFEDMNEREE - BE2DE
EREARBRERNEATHEY - 1
TR B B E BB N EE A
SE - MERFRATEEATREY &
BB R IR AL T e AN
BRTIENRE - BESEORETE -
RPVERFIEMREER - RFWEHER
PB4 B TS BB RORE © &
o RS R A S B AR L

L
MR

X

i
il

°

o FHESRSMBImAMNERIIERI N « BN
AR - BREEE  URGEaUBERRES
BRI ZME

o HESEANERAEBEHNIBERER
FRE - HENEREE  UNEHGREWBR
RVEKRER - #MAEEREEZNTMA
EBMAT - RARBRERAER2YE
fF o

=

BREMEERI - HMEERZESBBITENE
ZHE  KRZE  EXEZERE  BREREM
FEFEZ T BRI AP B E R E AR

BAEAEZZESRIER @ FHARMDET
BB AR ERERER - WEGFER
BrREGEMEA RS ERMBIIENAEH
BEMEMEE - AREEROBERT - 18R
I ©

Annual Report 2019-2020 £3)

81



82

Independent Auditor’s Report B &8sk &

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Yau Ngai Lun, Alan.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

29 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REEEREMEERAR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 82 —Z2=-—ZFF=A=+— B L FE (B R)

2020 2019
Note $°000 $°000
bz Fr Tt
Revenue WA 3 588,560 610,587
Cost of services ARFS AR A (90,785) (86,020)
Gross profit EX 497,775 524,567
Other revenue HApA 16,184 11,234
Other net loss HiEEFHE - @
Administrative expenses THEA (36,930) (36,008)
Profit from operations before valuation REVEMLBEZSEA
changes in investment properties F AR & R A 477,029 499,791
Net valuation losses on investment properties &Y 2 (L {EEI8)F 58 12(a) (1,306,281) (266,041)
(Loss)/profit from operations after valuation REVEEEEER
changes in investment properties R (F18) %A (829,252) 233,750
Finance costs BhE R AN 6(a) (6,532) (4,855)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBLAT(E1E) A 6 (835,784) 228,895
Income tax PSR 9(a) (77,080) (80,410)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive NERESRREN
income for the year attributable to TEE(EBR),BA
equity shareholders of the Company REEKALE (912,864) 148,485
(Loss)/earnings per share sR(ESE) BR
— basic and diluted — EAXR#E 11 $(2.54) $0.41

The notes on pages 89 to 146 form part of these financial statements.
Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company are set

out in note 10.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

At 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R—Z2_Z2&=H=+—8 (LB ¥ 3R)

2020 2019
Note $°000 $'000
BisE T T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Fixed assets EE&E 12(a)
— Investment properties —REME 12,195,550 13,499,050
— Other properties, plant and equipment — BEE - BERE&E 61,687 64,960
12,257,237 13,564,010
Current assets RBEE
Accounts receivable, deposits and FEURBRR ~ BT RIBFER
prepayments 14 103,389 26,512
Current tax recoverable AEAFE M FTS R 9(c) - 4
Pledged bank deposits EHEBIRITIFR 15 2,956 13,147
Cash and cash equivalents R MREEEY 16(a) 421,903 511,325
528,248 550,988
Current liabilities FREBaE
Other payables and accruals HEMEN R R EREA 17 24,239 22,080
Deposits received 2WETE 18 173,511 193,814
Provision for long service payments REBRS & 2EE 19 1,747 1,551
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 - 17
Current tax payable REAFET TSR 9(c) 13,615 14,749
213,112 232,211
Net current assets REBEEFEE 315,136 318,777
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERABAE 12,572,373 13,882,787
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank loan — secured IRITER — BIRAE 20 200,000 200,000
Government lease premiums payable JE < BT 3 22 1,722 1,791
Deferred tax liabilities BEBHIBEE 9(d) 87,748 78,429
289,470 280,220
NET ASSETS EEFE 12,282,903 13,602,567
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position %& B #ikRE
At 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R —ZE=FF =8 =+— B (LB% 5 R)

2020 2019
Note $°000 $'000
BisE T Tt

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRAE 23

Share capital &N 23(b) 360,000 360,000

Reserves (e 11,922,903 13,242,567

TOTAL EQUITY AR 12,282,903 13,602,567

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2020.

Cheong Hooi Hong Cheong Kheng Lim

Director Director

The notes on pages 89 to 146 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

meRERBBR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 82 —Z2=-—ZF=A=+—H L FE (UB%R)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

AREZRREN
Share  Revaluation Retained Total
capital reserve earnings equity
e ELry- 1] REBEF ERAE
Note $°000 $000 $°000 $°000
P zE T Fr T T
Balance at 1 April 2018 R20185F4 81 B H&ER 360,000 1,778,150 11,737,132 13,875,282
Changes in equity for the year: rEERZEH
Profit and total comprehensive income  ZR4F 3% F| 2 2 EUR A 4858
for the year = = 148,485 148,485
Dividends approved in respect of B LB EEIERR S
the previous financial year 10(b) = = (212,400) (212,400)
Dividends declared in respect of BRABEBFEE RS
the current financial year 10(a) — — (208,800) (208,800)
Balance at 31 March 2019 and M201953A31A K
1 April 2019 201954 A1 H iV 360,000 1,778,150 11,464,417 13,602,567
Changes in equity for the year: AEEEREE
Loss and total comprehensive income  A4F Z 518 I 2 EURA 4258
for the year - - (912,864) (912,864)
Dividends approved in respect of B E - EEIERR S
the previous financial year 10(b) - - (205,200) (205,200)
Dividends declared in respect of BRABBRFEE RS
the current financial year 10(a) - - (201,600) (201,600)
Balance at 31 March 2020 202053 A31 B AR 360,000 1,778,150 10,144,753 12,282,903

The notes on pages 89 to 146 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 8 Z —E2 & =A=+—HILEE (LB IR)

2020 2019
Note $000 $'000
bz Fr T
Operating activities R EE
(Loss)/profit before taxation BEiAT(E518), i F) (835,784) 228,895
Adjustments for: FHEIER :
— Interest income FBUA (12,330) (9,863)
— Finance costs — BhEKA 6,532 4,855
— Depreciation — e 4,265 4,488
— Net valuation losses on investment — REYEGHEEEFRE
properties 1,306,281 266,041
— Net loss on disposals of fixed assets — REETEEREFRE - 2
Operating profit before changes in EEESH AR
working capital 468,964 494,418
Increase in accounts receivable, FEURERTR « BT RIEFRTFIE N
deposits and prepayments (76,874) (7,981)
Increase in other payables and accruals E b e & FE R & FR 1S 0 2,197 1,005
Decrease in deposits received BEUWETE R (20,303) (1,934)
Increase in provision for long service REAMRTS & EEE N
payments 196 66
Cash generated from operations REXRFABNES 374,180 485,574
Tax paid BARIE
— Hong Kong Profits Tax paid — BB ENEH (68,891) (71,819)
Net cash generated from RETEAMEBNRS T
operating activities 305,289 413,755
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows GRABERER
For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) EZ —Z2 - =A=1+— B LLEE (LA BEIR)

2020 2019
Note $000 $'000
b Frx T
Investing activities REEE
Interest received B R 12,327 9,359
Payment for purchase of fixed assets BABTEEEMNK
other than investment properties (TBIEREMZE) (992) (1,614)
Payment for expenditure on BEYEST B
investment properties (2,781) (871)
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets BERETEEEFT ?—gﬁﬂ - 1
Decrease/(increase) in pledged BEMRITERORL(3840)
bank deposits 10,191 (2,852)
Net cash generated from RETEBBNREESFE
investing activities 18,745 4,523
Financing activities A& EE
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEHSHNERILS 16(b) 17) (29)
Payment for government lease S RFTH(E
premiums payable 16(b) (66) (63)
Interest paid on government lease BB HET S
premiums payable 16(b) (93) (96)
Interest paid on bank loan BRRITERFE 16(b) (5,750) (4,563)
Other borrowing costs paid B H A &R A 16(b) (730) (249)
Dividends paid B IRE (406,800) (421,200)
Net cash used in financing activities REEE AR SR8 (413,456) (426,200)
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRBELESEYHD FE
equivalents (89,422) (7,922)
Cash and cash equivalents 7A2019/2018F4A1HMERE
at 1 April 2019/2018 RESEEY 511,325 519,247
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March R3A3TAMNRERBESEEY  16() 421,903 511,325

The notes on pages 89 to 146 form part of these financial statements. $89H
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Br RS R MY RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( 24 % ¥ % 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies

(@

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by

the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 2
provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and

prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments B#&{KMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (245 # 5| 7R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financia
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2020 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries

(together referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that the
investment properties are stated at their fair value as explained

in the accounting policies set out in note 1(d).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other

sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b & # 31 ;R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

©

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive

rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that

there is no evidence of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see

note 1(h)(ii)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments B#&{KMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (245 # 5| 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held for a
currently undetermined future use and property that is being

constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated in the statement of financial
position at fair value, unless they are still in the course of
construction or development at the end of the reporting period
and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that time.
Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from the
retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised
in profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is

accounted for as described in note 1(p)()).

In the comparative period, when the Group held a property
interest under an operating lease and used the property to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the Group could
elect on a property-by-property basis to classify and account
for such interest as an investment property. Any such property
interest which had been classified as an investment property
was accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease and
the same accounting policies were applied to that interest
as were applied to other investment properties leased under

finance leases.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b & # 31 ;R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e)

Other properties, plant and equipment

Other properties, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and equipment,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation (see note 1(g))

and impairment losses (see note 1(h)(ii).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of other properties, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss

on the date of retirement or disposal.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to

obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not

the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operating leases is recognised in

accordance with note 1(p)()).
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Notes to the Financial Staterments B#&{KMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (245 # 5| 7R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

)

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of other

properties, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual

value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated

useful lives as follows:

— Land and buildings Over the shorter of the unexpired
term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 40

years after the date of completion

— Furniture, fixtures 5 years
and equipment
— Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of other properties, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its

residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost (including pledged bank deposits,
cash and cash equivalents and other receivables) and

accounts receivable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B1i§#R &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b & # 31 ;R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value
of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between
the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is

material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and other receivables:
effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition or an approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective

interest rate; and

— accounts receivable: discount rate used in the

measurement of the accounts receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is

exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of

future economic conditions.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments B#&{KMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (245 # 5| 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(h)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events

within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL

model applies.

Loss allowances for accounts receivable are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal

to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B1i§#R &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b & # 31 ;R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(h)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i) the debtor
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in
full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset is
90 days past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost

or effort.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments B#&{KMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (245 # 5| 7R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 1 FESTTEE@W
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets (h) FEEEFEREERE®®E

(Continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has

increased significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or interest

on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit

rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in

the operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability

to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due

status and credit risk ratings.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B1i§#R &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b & # 31 ;R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to

their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
accounts receivable is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash

flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in

profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments B#&{KMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (245 # 5| 7R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Impairment of other non-current assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that other properties, plant and equipment and
investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement
of financial position may be impaired or an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have

decreased.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable

amount is estimated.

— Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows

independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b & # 31 ;R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets

(h)

(Continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use

(if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. A reversal
of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals

are recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group

is required to prepare an interim financial report in

compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in

respect of the first six months of the financial year. At the

end of the interim period, the Group applies the same

impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as

it would at the end of the financial year (see notes 1(h)(i)

and (ii)).
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Notes to the Financial Staterments B#&{KMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (245 # 5| 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(i)

Accounts and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is

required before payment of that consideration is due.

Accounts and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less allowance for credit losses (see note 1(h)(i),
except where the receivables are interest-free loans made
to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the
effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the

receivables are stated at cost less allowance for credit losses.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value
less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing

costs (see note 1(r)).

Accounts and other payables

Accounts and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they

are stated at cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b & # 31 ;R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

()

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in
note 1(h)(i).

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are

stated at their present values.

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs

involving the payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments B#&{KMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (245 # 5| 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

()

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax

payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and

unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax

loss or credit can be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b & # 31 ;R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

()

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are
not part of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,

unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(d), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the property over time, rather than through sale. In all other
cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting

period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable

that sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments B#&{KMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (245 # 5| 7R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(n) Income tax (Continued)
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current

tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation

authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

= different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis

or realise and settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b & # 31 ;R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(0)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the

obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised when the lessee has the right to use
the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Further details of the

Group’s revenue recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the

accounting period in which they are earned.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments B#&{KMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (245 # 5| 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(P)

Revenue (Continued)
(i) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the

effective interest method.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are

recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the Group
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was

measured.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are

incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B1i§#R &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b & # 31 ;R )

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(s) Related parties

(@)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the

others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an

entity related to the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Staterments B#&{KMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (245 # 5| 7R )

1

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(s)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies: (Continued)

(vij  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

(vil A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a

parent of the entity).

(vii) ~ The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel

services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s

various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority

of these criteria.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b & # 31 ;R )

Changes in Accounting Policies

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS and a number of amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting period of
the Group. Of these, the following developments are relevant to the

Group:

— HKFRS 16, Leases

— HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 23, Uncertainty over income tax

treatments

— Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 cycle

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the
Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented, except for an additional disclosure
in connection with the depreciation of the right-of-use assets in the
note 6(c), which previously formed part of the depreciation of other

properties, plant and equipment.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is

not yet effective for the current accounting period.

Revenue

The principal activity of the Group is property investment.

Revenue represents gross rental income received and receivable from

investment properties.

The Group’s customer base is diversified and does not include
any customers with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the

Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B R& Mz

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (245 # 5| 7R )

4  Segment Information

The Group has a single reportable segment which is “Property AREBRAEE—AFREDIL -
leasing”. Accordingly, the business segment information for this sole BBt EH—AREHT
reportable segment is equivalent to the consolidated figures. BRI S E TR -

No separate geographical information is presented as the Group’s

revenue and results of property leasing were derived from Hong Kong. o

BIT ¥ 278
E’j%ﬁ&/\i

ERAEEMERENRAMEETRER

HEEER W B2 -

5 Other Revenue and Net Loss 5 HUkAREEFEZE
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fr Fx
Other revenue Hib A

Interest income FEW A 12,330 9,863
Management fee received from holding company — ##EI& A FIWEREY E B & F 1,200 1,200
Compensation from early termination of leases BRI IS MESREE 2,350 =
Others Hth 304 171
16,184 11,234

Other net loss HitnEEFHE
ERERTEEEREFE - @)

Net loss on disposals of fixed assets
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7% ¥ 5l /R )

6

(Loss)/Profit Before Taxation

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

6 BRELA

(B18), &
BB (BSIR), SR FIE A8/ (T A) -

SN/

/m

Al

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fr Fx
(a) Finance costs (@ ®WEHRK
Interest on bank loan IRITERAE 5,711 4,511
Other borrowing costs E AR A 731 250
Interest on government lease premiums FERTERAFHLE RS
payable 90 94
6,532 4,855
(b) Staff costs (b) EBIMA
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITEREMEF 45,064 43,365
Contributions to defined contribution FLTE R IRET IR
retirement plans 1,451 1,273
46,515 44,638
(c) Otheritems (c) HfbEAR
Gross rental income from investment BEMEHS WA
properties @BzE (588,560) (610,587)
Less: Direct outgoings B 'EE W 90,785 86,020
(497,775) (524,567)
Auditor’s remuneration Z AT &
— audit services — ZER 820 798
— tax services — AR 99 61
— other services — H AR 201 196
Depreciation charge HEER
— owned properties, plant and equipment — BAYE  BWEKKE 4,248 4,459
— right-of-use assets — EREEE 17 29
Impairment losses on accounts receivable FEUBR FOR (B 5 18
(note 14(b)) (FzE14(b)) 1,168 304
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Notes to the Financial Statements BII§HREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA # % /R )

7 Directors’ Emoluments 7 EEMe
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the RIEEBCR BMEDI Y 383(1) i A &) (#
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies BESMEER) ROI)E280 5 H A E = B
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as ST
follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary scheme 2020
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
Er = 4. BIRGHE
EzHme RENFHE BERA H3 ko)
$'000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T
Executive Directors BITEE
Cheong Hooi Hong BEe 50 1,892 700 - 2,642
Cheong Kheng Lim I 50 2,404* 700 - 3,154
Cheong Keng Hooi EmE 50 1,601 300 - 1,951
Cheong Sim Lam ipode) 50 1,744 300 - 2,094
Cheong Chong Ling BT 50 1,759¢ 120 24 1,953
Non-executive Director FHTES
Sin Cho Chiu, Charles" iz Lira 12 89 - - 101
Independent BIFHT
Non-executive Directors E=
Chow Wan Hoi, Paul AES 170 - - - 170
Wong Yiu Tak ERE 170 - - - 170
Lee Chung EIN 170 - - - 170
772 9,489 2,120 24 12,405
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7% ¥ 5l /R )

7  Directors’ Emoluments (continued)

7 EFMMEw@m

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme 2019
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
o2 RIRETE
EE=okn REMHMz= BIETEAT it ek
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T Fr T T
Executive Directors BITES

Cheong Hooi Hong BiEe 50 1,548 700 — 2,208
Cheong Kheng Lim FBIEM 50 2,567* 700 - 3,317
Cheong Keng Hooi EmE 50 1,574 300 — 1,024
Cheong Sim Lam fzpote 50 1,845 300 - 2,195
Cheong Chong Ling Ehare 50 1,449* 120 21 1,640

Non-executive Director FBTES
Sin Cho Chiu, Charles” hrizicLiran 50 380 - — 430

Independent BIFEHT

Non-executive Directors E=
Chow Wan Hoi, Paul JEEay! 170 - - - 170
Wong Yiu Tak ERE 170 = = = 170
Lee Chung EIN 170 - - - 170
810 9,363 2,120 21 12,314
* The amount excludes the benefits for the provision of a residential * EHETEENEEMLERREEDMEN

property to Mr Cheong Kheng Lim with an estimated rental value of
approximately $1,581,000 (2019: $1,581,000).

2 The amount excludes the benefits for the provision of a residential
property to Miss Cheong Chong Ling with an estimated rental value of
approximately $1,569,000 (2019: $1,569,000).

" The vacation of office of Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles as a director took
effect on 26 June 2019.

1&F - (FEtHELA1,581,0000( ZE—NF -
1,581,0007T ) °

g EEEAEMERL /MR HEEYED
& (FEHHELA1,569,000T( ZE—NF -

1,569,0007T) °

" HARRREAEMERRMNCIUE - YA —F—NF
NAZHRBRER -
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Notes to the Financial Statements BII§HREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 % # 5l 7R )

8 Individuals with Highest Emoluments 8
The five highest paid individuals for 2020 and 2019 are all directors of

the Company whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7.

9 Income Tax 9
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income represents:

=1

BY

=

S AL

TEoTER T NFFERUSSHE
MATHRARETNES - HMSEFIERN
BaE7 -

FRE%

(@)

REBERREMEZEKAR
PRRBIFREHIES

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
F FT
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax ~ Z<EiBi18 — FEFIEH
Provision for the year NEEIELERE 67,801 72,083
Over-provision in respect of prior years LA FEEE BT (40) (60)
67,761 72,023
Deferred tax IEFERIIE
Origination and reversal of temporary = B E A FEE D)
differences 9,319 8,387
77,080 80,410

The provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%
(2019:16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year,
except for the Company which is a qualifying corporation
under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime. For the Company,
the first $2,000,000 of assessable profits are taxed at 8.25%
and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. The
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the Company was

calculated at the same basis in 2019.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7% ¥ 5l /R )

9 Income Tax (Continued) 9 Fﬁ-lg$ﬁ(u§)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) FrBMi % B MIRERAMES
accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax HE(HB) "Mk
rate:

2020 2019

$°000 $'000

Frx Tt

(Loss)/profit before taxation MELAT(ER), S5 F (835,784) 228,895
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation, &HR:E AT K5+ & B Fi Al

calculated at applicable tax rates (B18) /B FMmEEFHE (138,069) 37,603

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR R EE 2 216,920 47,654

Tax effect of non-taxable income BEFHNENTIETE (1,731) (4,787)

Over-provision in prior years NEFFEEERE (40) (60)

Actual tax expense ERHIES T 77,080 80,410

(c) Current taxation in the consolidated () #HREBIEA N KT RAAE]
statement of financial position represents: Fri8®iA -

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
T T

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax KEFHREF G ERS
for the year 67,801 72,083
Provisional Profits Tax paid B EHFIEH (54,186) (67,338)
13,615 14,745

Representing: K&

Current tax recoverable NERFEUR RS - @
Current tax payable NERETETIS R 13,615 14,749
13,615 14,745
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Notes to the Financial Statements B R& Mz

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA # % /R )

9 Income Tax (Continued) 9 Fﬁ'?g‘$%(f§)
(d) Deferred tax liabilities recognised: d) EERELHRIEAE :
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the BELRE MR RERRERIE
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements BEMNHEKIDMAEZLEHNT ¢
during the year are as follows:
Depreciation
allowances
in excess of
the related
depreciation
BRI E
WITE 2B
$°000
Fr
Deferred tax arising from: RE THFERIELERIE :
At 1 April 2018 1K2018F4H1H 70,042
Charged to profit or loss gz IR 8,387
At 31 March 2019 M20193H31H 78,429
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4H1H 78,429
Charged to profit or loss ERHPHIBR 9,319
At 31 March 2020 202043 H31H 87,748
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Notes to the Financial Statements B1i§#R &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( L% # 51 7R )

10 Dividends 0 RE
(@) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of (@) NEEEMLAAERRBRER
the Company attributable to the year =
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Interim dividend declared and paid of BEEIRNM S HERE
$0.56 per share HR%0.567T
(2019: $0.58 per share) (20194 : &f%0.587T) 201,600 208,800
Final dividend proposed after the end of ~ RIREHAR KR4 B8 E25%
the reporting period of $0.25 per share DIk EANE BB HR0.257T
(2019: $0.57 per share) (2019%F : HA%0.577T) 90,000 205,200
291,600 414,000
The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting RIEHRREBZEZ D R KRE
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the B RMARERSHEREAERAE
reporting period. & °
(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders b) BRE—UHREEENSQT

of the Company attributable to the previous
financial year, approved and paid during the

BmlRR - WRARFEAE
R AFHIRE

year
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Final dividend in respect of the previous B L —BREE - RN
financial year, approved and paid during AN E#EE RS2 HY
the year, of $0.57 per share REARR B HA%0.577T
(2019: $0.59 per share) (2019% : HA&0.597T) 205,200 212,400
11 (Loss)/Earnings Per Share — Basic and 11 B8R(ER)BF — EXR

Diluted

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the loss
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of $912,864,000
(2019: a profit of $148,485,000) and 360,000,000 (2019:
360,000,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year. There were no

potential dilutive ordinary shares in existence in 2020 and 2019.

]
BREX(BE) BIREBEAFEN
A B & AR R FE 15 B 18 912,864,000 JT

(ZZE—NF : & F/148,485, ooom =
ZE{THY 38 1% 360,000 oooﬂﬁ( —NF :
360,000,000 f& ) 5t & - —EFR

—F— HEIE@E—H%ET IR
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Notes to the Financial Statements BII§HREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA # % /R )

12 Fixed Assets

(@)

Associated International Hotels Limited S\EEIFEEA R A T

12 BE
(a
Investment
properties Other properties, plant and equipment
REME HigW¥ - RERRE
Properties
held for
leasing
and capital Other Other
appreciation properties assets Sub-total Total
HER
HER
BEYE Higys HittEE gt am
$000 $000 $000 $°000 $000
Tr Tr Tr Tr Tr
Cost or valuation: BAEE
At 1 April 2019 720194 A1H 13,499,050 100,464 36,432 136,896 13,635,946
Additions e 2,781 - 992 992 3,773
Disposals BRE - - (905) (905) (905)
Fair value adjustments AR EBEAE (1,306,281) - - - (1,306,281)
At 31 March 2020 ®2020F3 A31H 12,195,550 100,464 36,519 136,983 12,332,533
Representing: R&:
Cost AR - 100,464 36,519 136,983 136,983
Valuation — 2020 fhfE — 20204 12,195,550 - - - 12,195,550
12,195,550 100,464 36,519 136,983 12,332,533
Accumulated depreciation:  BEIfE :
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4A1H - 37,860 34,076 71,936 71,936
Charge for the year AEEHE - 3,444 821 4,265 4,265
Written back on disposals B R RE - - (905) (905) (905)
At 31 March 2020 202093 A31H - 41,304 33,992 75,296 75,296
Net book value: BREFE
At 31 March 2020 R2020%3A31H 12,195,550 59,160 2,527 61,687 12,257,237




Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7% ¥ 5l /R )

12 Fixed Assets (continued)

(@

(Continued)

Investment
properties Other properties, plant and equipment
REME Bt - BE R
Properties
held for
leasing
and capital Other Other
appreciation properties assets Sub-total Total
HER
HER
REYE Hith Hitt &= et k]
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T Fr T T
Cost or valuation: RAREE
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4A1H 13,764,720 100,464 34,902 135,366 13,900,086
Additions #E 371 — 1,614 1,614 1,985
Disposals BE = = (84) (84) (84)
Fair value adjustments AR BERE (266,041) = = = (266,041)
At 31 March 2019 R20194F3A31H 13,499,050 100,464 36,432 136,896 13,635,946
Representing: RE:
Cost AR = 100,464 36,432 136,896 136,896
Valuation — 2019 {8 — 20195 13,499,050 - = — 13,499,050
13,499,050 100,464 36,432 136,896 13,635,946
Accumulated depreciation: ~ RFHTE :
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4A1H — 34,416 33,113 67,529 67,529
Charge for the year REEHE - 3,444 1,044 4,488 4,488
Written back on disposals BB D = = (81) (81) (81)
At 31 March 2019 720193 A31H = 37,860 34,076 71,936 71,936
Net book value: REFE
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3A31H 13,499,050 62,604 2,356 64,960 13,564,010
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Notes to the Financial Statements BII§HREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 % # 5l 7R )

12 Fixed Assets (continued)
(b) Fair value measurement of investment

properties

At 31 March 2020, investment properties comprise ISQUARE
(excluding an office on 9th Floor), certain units of Good Luck
Industrial Building and a floor of Euro Trade Centre. Other
properties comprise an office on 9th Floor of ISQUARE, certain
units of an industrial property and two residential properties in

Hong Kong.

(i) Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the
three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13,
Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference
to the observability and significance of the inputs used in

the valuation technique as follows:

— Level 1 valuations: fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at

the measurement date

— Level 2 valuations: fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which

market data are not available

— Level 3 valuations: fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs

Associated International Hotels Limited S\EEIFEEA R A T
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7% ¥ 5l /R )

12 Fixed Assets (continued)

(b)

Fair value measurement of investment

properties (Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

None of the Group’s investment properties measured
at fair value are categorised into Level 1 and Level 2
valuations. The investment properties which are

categorised into Level 3 valuations are analysed as

below:

12 BEIlEEE@m)

(b) REWENLNAREBEFTE(

) 2AREBEBRIE)

REBEYEKARRBEFE
MREMERBEE-ELR
F_BRMGE HBEEE=
BRMGENREDEINET

4=

MR

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
Recurring fair value measurement RISEEERMGEN
AREE
Investment properties categorised into WEEEEZERHEEN
Level 3 valuations: REYE
— Commercial properties in Hong Kong  — (IR BB g 22 12,138,200 13,439,490
— Industrial properties in Hong Kong — IR EBR T 57,350 59,560
12,195,550 18,499,050
During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, REBEZZ_TFR_T—NF
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or Z“A=+—HILEE  ®F—
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to BEE_ERZELELSE
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy i MREZERITEEA

at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

SRR

ISyn=!
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Notes to the Financial Statements BII§HREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 % # 5l 7R )

12 Fixed Assets (Continued) 12 EEE(%)
(b) Fair value measurement of investment (b) BREVHENAAEBETE @

properties (Continued)

(i) Valuation process (ii)
The investment properties in Hong Kong were revalued
at 31 March 2020 by Vigers Appraisal and Consulting
Limited, an independent firm of professional valuers
who have among their staff Fellows of The Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the
location and category of properties being valued, on a
market value basis. Management has discussion with
the valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at each interim

and annual reporting date.

(i) Information about Level 3 fair value measurement (iii)

The fair value of investment properties was determined
using income capitalisation approach which capitalised
the net rental income of the properties and taking into
account the occupancy rate and reversionary income
potential of properties after the expiry of the current

leases. The significant unobservable inputs are set out

below:
Range of capitalisation rate
BAftRNEE
Investment properties RENE 2020 2019

HEEF

RZZE-TF=A=+—8"
UREBEBNREMERH M
B BEGER — BRI EE
BRI AERAR(EEIHRA
BEBAEMBEERGEL
Bi% - BHWEMZWEME
B RPATERRIE IR
R EITE - B TIAER
MEZTELSEN - BRED
B ERD S R S A A A4
EE B BRE T ENRERAM

+
I%I:l °

FEZBRANEBEFAENE
#
AEBEFAUREENMEE -
MENFHEHSWABERNE - I
ZRIMELAXRNEREM
AE MR BRI S AN E
FEEN  UBEREMENR
REE - EANTHERGBA
BEHET

Range of occupancy rate
HEENEE
2020 2019

Commercial properties in Hong Kong URBBNEENE 2.33% —5.00%  2.00% — 5.00%
Industrial properties in Hong Kong UREBNTENE 4.00% 4.00%

0% —87.2%  92.9% — 100%
0% 100%

The fair value measurement of investment properties
is positively correlated to the occupancy rate and

negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7% ¥ 5l /R )

12 Fixed Assets (Continued) 12 EE>§§_(E)
(b) Fair value measurement of investment (b) BEWMHXNAABEFTZ@
properties (Continued)

(i) Information about Level 3 fair value measurement iy FZERAAEEIFENE
(Continued) #BHE)
The movements during the year in the balance of these KEERNE=ZBRALBEL
Level 3 fair value measurement are as follows: HEVEENIN T -
Commercial Industrial
properties in properties in
Hong Kong Hong Kong
NLREBY NRAEBH
[SE2/ES TEME
$°000 $°000
Fr Fr
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4H1H 13,710,700 54,020
Additions e 371 -
Fair value adjustments RABEAR (271,581) 5,540
At 31 March 2019 M201943H31H 13,439,490 59,560
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4A1H 13,439,490 59,560
Additions HE 2,676 105
Fair value adjustments NRBEAE (1,303,966) (2,315)
At 31 March 2020 1202063 A31H 12,138,200 57,350

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “net valuation losses on
investment properties” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. All the valuation changes recognised in profit or
loss for the year arise from the properties held at the end
of the reporting period. The valuation changes will only
affect the accounting profit or loss but not the cash flows

of the Group.

REMENAABERFABLER
EREREMEERARNK
BYEMLEBERFE A PR
R o REEANERETHERN
PBEHEZFEREARER
BREPRBREERANYE -
ZEEEHRETELAREE
SR EMEMHER MR

HEREREBEKTE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements BII§HREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 % # 5l 7R )

. s N
12 Fixed Assets (Continued) 12 }:Eﬁ%_ (&)
(€) The analysis of net book value of properties ) YIEBREFEMNDINAT :
is as follows:
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
In Hong Kong, with remaining EEE - Fgg
lease term of: THEHA
— not less than 50 years — NP RB05E 153,417 162,838
— less than 50 years but — LRB0FR
not less than 10 years L1085 12,101,293 13,398,816
12,254,710 13,561,654
(d)  Other assets comprise furniture, fixtures, equipment and motor (d) EMBESFEGM £B RERA
vehicles. ==
(€) At 31 March 2019, the net book value of right-of-use assets () W=—Z—h&E=A=+—R0 " A£H
arising from leases of office equipment of the Group was NHEERENRAZRENFERES
$17,000. EREFE/17,0007T °
() The Group leases out investment properties under operating (N AEEUCLHASHEHREYE B

leases. The leases run for an initial period of two to ten years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which time
all terms are renegotiated. Certain leases include variable lease
payment terms that are based on the revenue of tenants.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate recognised as income in profit or loss during the year

ended 31 March 2020 were $6,244,000 (2019: $8,854,000).

Associated International Hotels Limited S\EEIFEEA R A T
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7% ¥ 5l /R )

12 Fixed Assets (continued)

(f)  (continued) " @@
Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating AEBERBERBRE BHREFENATRE
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the MRa& S HE AR EAB EURI AR ITIR
Group in future periods as follows: HENRBEEOT
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
Within 1 year 1R 421,486 413,884
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FERBE2ERN 322,104 314,324
After 2 years but within 3 years 2F & H3FERN 147,608 191,989
After 3 years but within 4 years 3FRIBLAFRA 86,351 84,791
After 4 years but within 5 years 4F1ZE5FA 56,547 79,450
After 5 years 518 182,503 230,499
1,216,599 1,314,937
(g) Pledge of assets () EEIKH

At the end of the reporting period, fixed assets with carrying
value of $12,043,834,000 (2019: $13,339,037,000) were

pledged to secure the bank loan (see note 20).

13 Subsidiaries

The following list contains the particulars of all the subsidiaries of the

Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

R EHMLER  RITEREMUEE
T 8 4 12,043,834,000 7T ( =& — 11
4+ 13,339,037,000 7T ) K El & & &=
TERIEIR(263M17E20) -

13 B F

TRIEAEEFREMB LRSS - Fr5mE
ERES - PR AR AT B o

Proportion of

Place of ownership

incorporation Particulars of issued interest held by
Name of company and operation and paid up capital the Company Principal activity

ER A BRITRER HAXAREN
AR bk RAFHE Frib R zs LBl TEEK
Associated International Resorts Limited Hong Kong $20 divided into 2 shares 100% Inactive

Bk 2079 A2k in TEE
Diamond Town Limited Hong Kong $200,000 divided into 200,000 shares  100% Property investment
HEBRAF 0 200,0007T 4 420,000 i 17 NERE
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Notes to the Financial Statements BII§HREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA # % /R )

. . + A +
14 Accounts Receivable, Deposits and 14 FEUWERF ~ sl RFENARK
Prepayments
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
Accounts receivable FEUER SR 97,848 17,100
Less: Allowance for credit losses (note 14(b) & : 15 B 518 %45 (FtsT14(0)) (2,140) (1,575)
95,708 15,625
Deposits and prepayments HCASSEES 7,681 10,987
103,389 26,512
(@) Ageing analysis (@) BRERDMT
The ageing analysis of accounts receivable (net of allowance RmEEKRER - BIEEEKER
for credit losses) which was included in accounts receivable, KR RBARANERERE
deposits and prepayments as of the end of the reporting period MR EEEBER) MRS TET
is as follows:
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
T T
Current (Note) A HR(5F) 76,609 14,005
Less than 1 month past due wHEI DR E A 8,292 1,443
1 to 3 months past due B Z=31E A 9,445 65
More than 3 months but less than 160 BB B 31 A
12 months past due B 121E A 1,362 12
Amounts past due BiaiiERE 19,099 1,520
95,708 15,525
Note: The amount includes the receivable for lease incentives of 7 EHEeEHEERMY RAMEEES
$76,067,000 (2019: $10,152,000) which is not past due. The Sk 160 3 8 U BB 276,067,000 7T (= 2
movement in the said receivable during the year will only affect — L% 1 10,152,0007T) ° sZEUERFK
the accounting revenue but not the contractual cash flows of the NAFEZHRGTEASEESS
Group. ERRA - MAEEHESHERER

S bt B2 486
SEKTE -

Debts are generally due on the 1st day of each month and RR—RESARERIE  BERER
10 to 14 days are allowed for settlement or else interest will be H—RAET+RE+NX @ @SRk
charged. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out FLE - REBEEIRE MBI
in note 24(a). RHIEE24(a) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements B1i§#R &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( L% # 51 7R )

14 Accounts Receivable, Deposits and 14 FEWERF > ST RFEN K@)
Prepayments (continued)
(b) Impairment of accounts receivable (b) FEWEBRFURIE
The movement in the specific allowance for credit losses during RFEERNEEBEBEREEEGE SN
the year is as follows: BN
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
Fr T
At 1 April 2019/2018 72019/201844 A1 H 1,575 1,575
Impairment losses recognised (note 6(c) & R EE1E (FEE6(c)) 1,168 304
Uncollectible amounts written off [k NI gEIE € (603) (304)
At 31 March M3HA31H 2,140 1,575
15 Pledged Bank Deposits 15 2EHIRITER
At 31 March 2020 and 2019, bank deposits were pledged to a RZB_ZER_ZF-NF=A=+—H"
designated bank to secure the bank loan (see note 20). RITERE BEEIR - WER—RIETRT

RISRITE R (2EKI7E20) °

16 Cash and Cash Equivalents 16 RERBELEEY
(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: () BEkRELEEWERE

2020 2019

$°000 $'000

T Tt

Deposits with banks IRITTEHITE R 402,792 472,394

Cash at bank and in hand RITFR RS 19,111 38,931

421,903 511,325
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Notes to the Financial Statements B R& Mz

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 % # 5l 7R )

16 Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued)

16 BEkBE€EED @

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) MEFTEBAMEENEEZH
financing activities: iR :
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from TRFNAEEREESMEENE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. EEY  THERERSKIEESE
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which g MEERHMELNAGBIKEZARE
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the MBS RECKEIAKRE S REBIE
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from DEREEBEERERNBEEH
financing activities. A e
Government
lease
Bank loan Lease premiums Interest
— secured liabilities payable payables Total
RITER PEfS
— BEHA HEEE B E EEFIE @
$°000 $000 $°000 $°000 $000
Tr Fr T Tr Tr
(Note 20) (Note 21) (Note 22)
(F¥5£20) (FzE21) (M&E22)
At 1 April 2019 M2019F4A1H 200,000 17 1,857 183 202,057
Changes from financing HERSHRERE
cash flows:
Capital element of lease BERNEERSM
rentals paid EREBH - (17) - - (17)
Payment for government SR BATHE
lease premiums payable - - (66) - (66)
Interest paid on government 2N BB 2
lease premiums payable - - - (93) (93)
Interest paid on bank loan BAFITEZRFIE - - - (5,750) (5,750)
Other borrowing costs paid B ATEME TR - - - (730) (730)
Total changes from REREREEZY
financing cash flows 1a%8 - (17) (66) (6,573) (6,656)
Other changes: Hin# g
Interest on bank loan RITERFIE - - - 5711 5,711
Other borrowing costs HAfEFAAR - - - 731 731
Interest on government FENBEUTER .S
lease premiums payable - - - 90 90
Total other changes HhEEias - - - 6,532 6,532
At 31 March 2020 M2020%€3A31H 200,000 - 1,791 142 201,933
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7% ¥ 5l /R )

16 Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued) 16 WERBEEEY @)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) METBAMEENEREZYH
financing activities: (continued) R . @)
Government
lease
Bank loan Lease premiums Interest

— secured liabilities payable payables Total
FITER FEA

— FHEAE HEEE BB ENAS Fat

$000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000

T T T T T
(Note 20) (Note 21) (Note 22)

(F¥7£20) GE4) (KtiE22)

At 1 April 2018 R201854A1H 200,000 46 1,920 236 202,202

Changes from financing MERSRESS

cash flows:
Capital element of lease BENEEREM

rentals paid BARSD = (29) = = (29)
Payment for government SR E

lease premiums payable - = (63) = (63)
Interest paid on government 2N B HER S

lease premiums payable - - = (96) (96)
Interest paid on bank loan BRTERFIE = = = (4,563) (4,563)
Other borrowing costs paid ~ BATEAE TR - - = (249) (249)
Total changes from RERSREF

financing cash flows 1 - (29) (63) (4,908) (5,000)
Other changes: Hit#5
Interest on bank loan FITEHFE = = - 4,511 4,511
Other borrowing costs HpERAAR = = = 250 250
Interest on government FERTER L BA &

lease premiums payable - — = 94 94
Total other changes HnEEas = = = 4,855 4,855
At 31 March 2019 R201943A31H 200,000 17 1,857 183 202,057
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Notes to the Financial Statements BII§HREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 % # 5l 7R )

17 Other Payables and Accruals 17

All of the other payables and accruals are expected to be settled

within one year.

18 Deposits Received 18
All of the deposits received are expected to be settled within one year
except for $127,583,000 (2019: $130,831,000) which is expected to

be settled after more than one year.

HittEA R FERT &
B R 3R R B AT — AR
fit -

EWETE

B T 127,583,000 7t ( = & — L F
130,831,0007T ) K& @ B R HB B —F1&
BN - FTEBEWGET S TBA R —FRES -

19 Provision for Long Service Payments 19 REBRBEZEHE
$'000
Fx
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4H1H 1,551
Provision made for the year REFHRER 196
At 31 March 2020 7202063 A31H 1,747

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is obliged
to make lump sum payments on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances to employees who have completed at least five
years of service with the Group. The amount payable is dependent
on the employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement plan that is
attributable to contributions made by the Group. The Group does not

set aside any assets to fund any remaining obligations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7% ¥ 5l /R )

20 Bank Loan — Secured

At 31 March 2020, the bank loan was repayable as follows:

20

fﬁ iéf?i — 7@‘ }Eﬁﬁ
FEAT ¢

2020 2019

$°000 $'000

Fr T

After 1 year but within 2 years 1612 {B25F K 200,000 —
After 2 years but within 5 years 2B B5FE N - 200,000
200,000 200,000

On 7 October 2013, the Company entered into a facility agreement
with a bank for banking facilities of up to $300,000,000. On 30 August
2016, the Company entered into a supplemental agreement with the
bank for extension of the facilities for three years to 8 October 2019.
In compliance with certain conditions, the facilities have been further
extended for two additional years to 8 October 2021. The banking
facilities were secured by a debenture incorporating a first fixed legal
charge over certain fixed assets (see note 12(g)) and a first floating
charge over certain bank deposits (see note 15). At 31 March 2020,
the outstanding bank loan was $200,000,000 (2019: $200,000,000).

The Company’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment
of covenants relating to certain of the Company’s consolidated
statement of financial position ratios and maintenance of capital at
certain required levels. If the Company were to breach the covenants,
the drawn down facilities would become payable on demand. The
Company regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants. As
at 31 March 2020 and 2019, none of the covenants relating to drawn

down facilities had been breached.

RZZB—=F+AtH AARE—FER

FI513 T —174 $£300,000,000 7T H) &k & 175
#HoRZTE—AFENA=TA  AQAEZ
RITRI L — R nE  SRERARER
=FEZZE-NF+ANR - ERFEET

BT ZREHROEE—PERRTF

E_E-_—F+ANB - ZERTMERMN
—eRETETEE (28 E12(9))
WE—EEAERCREAE TRITIER (2

F)ﬁﬁﬁé‘fﬁ)E’\J%—??@M@EEE’U%%T’EF‘%T&
R-R-_ZBTF=A=1—H  KEEW

ﬁE?T%ffk?%ZOO 000,000t (= F—h 4 :

200,000,0007T) ©

RATMRITRVEBEBITRARTNE T
RE ISR K H A B 225614 7 REER
R WRKERSERE —EBRRERT WA
NRIERZEHLF  BIARBAARKER
ERDMEER - ARFEEHERREE
REELERH RIE_TER-T—NF
ZA=+—H ' XARIWEE R FRERE
EEBRErIRE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA # % /R )

21 Lease Liabilities

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the

Group’s lease liabilities at 31 March 2019 which previously classified as

finance leases:

TREJINAKRER T NAF=A=1t—H
MEERECAERD BARERE) M HER

BHIBIHAFIR

21 HEARB

2019
Present value
of the minimum Total minimum

lease payments lease payments

®EHE ®EHE
R E ISRERAREL
$’000 $'000
FT FT
Within 1 year 1FR 17 17
Less: Total future interest expense B BRI B R E =
Present value of lease liabilities HEBENERE 17
22 Government Lease Premiums Payable 22 EEGHE

At 31 March 2020, the government lease premiums payable was

repayable as follows:

MN-ZT-FE=F=1+—0  ENEFHE
REFHENT -

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
F Fx

Within 1 year (amount included in 1FA(RIEEE MR
other payables and accruals) MIEETERN) 69 66
After 1 year but within 2 years 1618258 K 73 69
After 2 years but within 3 years 212 B3F R 77 73
After 3 years but within 4 years 3FRIB4FR 80 7
After 4 years but within 5 years AFIEIB5F R 84 80
After 5 years 5F 1% 1,408 1,492
1,722 1,791
1,791 1,857

Interest on government lease premiums payable is chargeable at a

fixed rate of 5% (2019: 5%) per annum on the outstanding balance.
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FEN BT E R B R EIR AR EE A B E F
FRsE(ZT—h4& : 5B)5HE -



Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7% ¥ 5l /R )

23 Capital and Reserves

(@

23 BEXRK#E

Movements in components of equity a) ERARBDHEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of AREBGAESNETEMAKI DR
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out VB REBROLEER - JHREE
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of BEEER - ARaRNFUEFRE
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity 18 51| 7 2 4B AK BT 9 ) S B 5 1B 41| 40
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out o
below:
The Company P/ N/N]
Share  Revaluation Retained
capital reserve earnings Total
R B REEF Fotcl
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Fr Fr Fr T
Balance at 1 April 2018 R2018F4 81 H &S 360,000 1,761,266 11,618,395 13,739,661
Profit and total comprehensive AEZGEH K
income for the year ZHERBALE - = 152,861 152,861
Dividends approved in respect of ~ BR E—BIREE
the previous financial year HAERNRE — — (212,400) (212,400)
Dividends declared in respect of BRABBREE
the current financial year FIRAIAR S - - (208,800) (208,800)
Balance at 31 March 2019 and M201953831A K
1 April 2019 201954 A1 H iR 360,000 1,761,266 11,350,056 13,471,322
Loss and total comprehensive AEEEER
income for the year FHBALE - - (907,258) (907,258)
Dividends approved in respect of  BR F—BIREE
the previous financial year HEMRE - - (205,200) (205,200)
Dividends declared in respect of BRAMHEE
the current financial year TIRAALE - - (201,600) (201,600)
Balance at 31 March 2020 202043 B 31 H V&g 360,000 1,761,266 10,035,998 12,157,264
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Notes to the Financial Statements BII§HREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 % # 5l 7R )

23 Capital and Reserves (continued) 23 EARRf#HEm
(b) Share capital b) R
2020 2019
Number of shares $°000 Number of shares $'000
BEE T f&mEE T
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHR :
Ordinary shares TR 360,000,000 360,000 360,000,000 360,000

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company have no

RIBFBFACRREDI)E1361 - &

AT AR EmE o

nominal value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank

equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Nature and purpose of revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve represents hotel properties revaluation
surpluses and other properties revaluation surplus recognised
in prior years. The hotel has been redeveloped into ISQUARE.
Upon the retirement or disposal of the properties, any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to

retained earnings. The reserve is non-distributable.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated under the provisions of Part 6 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, was $1,806,158,000
(2019: $1,822,935,000). After the end of the reporting
period, the Directors proposed a final dividend of $0.25 per
share (2019: $0.57 per share), amounting to $90,000,000
(2019: $205,200,000) (note 10). This dividend has not been

recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

Associated International Hotels Limited S\EEIFEEA R A T

LR E A BRI R 2R AT AR
S o ﬂﬂ&$“ﬂﬁ@iﬂ%ﬁ—
o FINARBIFIERE
%ﬁé@kﬁ?ﬁﬁ%@éc

AR 1% —

?

H

EhRHEENEENRR
BRI A FE BRI
MEBERAREMNEEERS -
REECERAERES - RAENE
EAMYEL  AARBNELRS
B EGEEEEARDET o LEE
R SIRH) ©

Al D IR
R-ZTE_TF=F=+—8  RE
EBCARHEN )6 IR T E R A
HORFARERRRNEEBTE
41,806,158,000 7T ( =& — L F
1,822,935,0007T) - EE G R ME H
Z%,%Elfé EZDIRAHR TR
0.25T(=ZE—N%F : R0.577T) -
:./\900000007z< T-NF:
205,200,0007T ) (FIFE10) © LR B
RIREERER M RERBEE °



Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7% ¥ 5l /R )

23 Capital and Reserves (continued)

(e)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for equity shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by leasing properties and
pricing services commensurately with the level of risk and by

securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
to maintain a balance between the higher member returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions. The Group’s overall strategy
remained unchanged during the years ended 31 March 2020
and 2019.

The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing its gearing
ratio and cash flow requirements, taking into account its future
financial obligations and commitments. For this purpose, the
Group defines gearing ratio as total bank loan over total equity
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.
As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s gearing ratio was 1.6%
(2019: 1.5%) with bank deposits and cash exceeding total
bank loan of $224,859,000 (2019: $324,472,000).

23

o

\
l

©

RSkt

\/

BRERE
REBEREANEEHHRRER
SEBECENEN  ETES LA
YR ET E R B K AR FE A R A% B
AR A IR AEUSRE M A, -
BB RERRRTIRENR - WAHA
AT R

REBTHRANEEELEALHE
BREAEUAREOETKEESE
&= MK 8 B R - BB EE AR
AR BB ARERSG FE - WH
EREBEBEREEMAEERERE -
HEZZT-_ZFR-ZFT—NF=A
=tT—HLEFE  AEEMNEERE
TR -

ANER B E BRR A S B R IE
&'%ﬂ$ﬁ§$ﬁ%%$&ﬁﬁ
FRRERHERLERE - st
s AEERATEAABHER
IRITE R BRI AR E W B R &
A EREE RZTE_ZTF
ZA=1T—B AEENELEE
& E1.6%(ZT—NEF 5%)'
MIRTTFERERESBRIBITER
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M
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Notes to the Financial Statements BII§HREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 % # 5l 7R )

24 Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in

the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk

management policies and practices used by the Group to manage

these risks are described below.

(@)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
accounts receivable, pledged bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposure to this credit risk is monitored on an ongoing

basis.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from pledged bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with sound
credit rating, for which the Group considers to have low credit

risk.

In respect of accounts receivable, individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Debts are generally due on the 1st day of
each month and 10 to 14 days are allowed for settlement or
else interest will be charged. Legal action will be taken against
past due debtors whenever the situation is appropriate. The
Group obtains deposits from customers (see note 18) as
collateral over accounts receivable to cover potential exposure
to credit risk. At 31 March 2020 and 2019, the expected
credit losses for accounts receivable were measured and loss

allowance was provided.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B1i§#R &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( L% # 51 7R )

24 Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values (Continued)

(@)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account
of any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount
of each financial asset in the statement of financial position
after deducting any impairment allowance. The Group does
not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group to

credit risk.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivable are set

out in note 14.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and an adequate amount of committed banking facilities

to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can

be required to pay:

BERREER A REE @

(@)

EERE @)
AEETEEACERRER NS
R P EFMHERS - AL
SHEERR LR AIEHKRERE
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Notes to the Financial Statements B R& Mz

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 % # 5l 7R )

24 Financial Risk Management and Fair

Values (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

24 BligEREIRE N A AEEE)

(b) HRBESERE@

2020

Total More than More than

contractual Within 1yearbut  2years but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
amount cashflows  ondemand 2 years 5years 5 years

CLESiE 1£RE Febelk kbt
BEE REREAE BEBAR  EONE (BONSE BB5F
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Frn i r Fr r r
Other payables and accruals EhENTREAER 24,239 24,260 24,260 - - -
Deposits received BT 173,511 173,511 45,928 59,541 52,824 15,218
Bank loan — secured BITER — FHER 200,000 208,667 5,700 202,967 - -
Government lease premiums payable  FER BB 1,722 2,542 - 159 477 1,906
399,472 408,980 75,888 262,667 53,301 17,124

2019

Total More than More than

contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
amount cash flows on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years

CLERiE 1ERE BRIF it opka
BEE ReRBEE BEREE  EONE EIRSE HiRsE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Tr Tr Tr T T T
Other payables and accruals Hit R e ER 22,080 22,101 22,101 - - -
Deposits received EkETE 193,814 193,814 62,983 43,244 73,495 14,002
Lease liabilties HEEE 17 17 17 - - -
Bank loan — secured ROER—HEA 200,000 212,508 4,971 4,957 202,580 -
Government lease premiums payable  JER BB 1,791 2,701 = 159 477 2,065
47,702 431,141 90,072 48,360 276,552 16,157
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7% ¥ 5l /R )

24 Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values (Continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank loan.
The bank loan borrowed at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as

monitored by management is set out in (i) below.

(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile of the
Group’s borrowings with significant interest rate risk

exposure at the end of the reporting period:

(©)

2020

Effective

interest rate

P EEN
AEENNXEREZRERTE
K FRRITEREAREBEAR
REnENEER  AEBEERES
EEM BRI T (Pt -

0 MEER
TRHAVRBEHRELER
REBAZEABERNER
2 F) S SR R AL -

2019
Effective

interest rate

BERFIR $°000 F{ iR $'000
% Frx % T
Fixed rate borrowings: EEMBR
Government lease FETBURTHE B
premiums payable 5.00 1,791 5.00 1,857
Variable rate borrowings:  EE &%k :
Bank loan — secured RITER — HEH 2.85 200,000 2.48 200,000
Total k) 201,791 201,857
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Notes to the Financial Statements BII§HREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 % # 5l 7R )

24 Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values (Continued)
() Interest rate risk (Continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2020, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 (2019: 50) basis points in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would have increased/decreased the Group’s loss after
tax and decreased/increased the retained profits by
approximately $1,670,000 (2019: decreased/increased
the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately $835,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss after tax (2019: profit after
tax) (and retained profits) that would arise assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the
end of the reporting period. In respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate
non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end
of the reporting period, the impact on the Group’s loss
after tax (2019: profit after tax) (and retained profits) is
estimated as an annualised impact on interest expense
of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is

performed on the same basis for 2019.

(d) Currency risk
The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk as
substantially all of the Group’s transactions are denominated in

Hong Kong dollars.

(e) Fair values
All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially

different from their fair values as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BIHREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7% ¥ 5l /R )

25 Employee Retirement Benefits 25 EERMKER

26

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administrated by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
$30,000. In addition to the mandatory contribution, the Group makes
voluntary contribution at 5% of the employees’ monthly relevant
income in excess of $30,000, subject to a maximum monthly income
of $40,000. Mandatory contributions to the plan vest immediately.
Prior to 1 July 2019, voluntary contributions to the plan vested at the
time the employees reached the retirement range, subject to certain
conditions. With effect from 1 July 2019, the voluntary contributions
to the plan vest on the scale based on the years of service of the
employees until full vesting after completing 10 years of service,
subject to certain conditions. The staff costs in respect of staff
employed by Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited
for building and property management of iISQUARE are reflected
in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

During the year, no forfeited contributions (2019: Nil) was utilised to
reduce the contributions payable for the year. No unutilised forfeited
contributions had yet to be applied by the Group at 31 March 2020
and 2019.

Commitments
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2020 not provided for

in the financial statements were as follows:

RNEBIEBEBCGRBIMEATES S ERGIDE
RE - AREBEEBRBEERNES R
SERBIMAE R EI([REREE]) - %54
BT EIRABMNZ AT AT MK
RIREHE - BiIBRERE - EEMESR
7815 R B B A B RI5%[A 5 &I 1E 4
;o BE AMMEBEA S LR /30,0007 °
Bros MR - AEEWIRR B L E 848
A B2.30,0007T FI5% 1EH B FEIE fE3 ;1B
&= S A A E40,000T AR o MarE
EH B RS E R R B EERAM - B
ZE-NFEA—BA - MEFEELERE
MER - EFEETRENELT - NMES
FERRFROENTHEBREREESN - 8
—E-hFtA—BR - mFrEEENERE
MR EFEETHRENERT - RiEE
BNRGFHMENLIFERERERT - &
ERRBEFHRETFRFZHEBERER
F o EERITYESEARATNBERES
WEFRMEEREMEREENE IKAE
FEAEERGRE BT REMEERARS R
Hng

RAFFERN - I8 BO2 R 45 1R
BEARBREMNER(ZFT—NF - &)
R-FZFER-ZF-NF=A=1T—H"
ARER B A A (8 P B WK

26 EIE

R-E-TRF=A=+—BRENTXARE
TSR AR EAFIENT

2020 2019

$'000 $'000

T Fr

Contracted for EHEY - 1,440
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Notes to the Financial Statements BII§HREMEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA # % /R )

27 Company-level Statement of Financial 27 R—E-_EFE=H=+—H

Position at 31 March 2020 £ B FE H B B FE AR 3%
2020 2019
Note $°000 $'000
k=4 Frx Fx
Non-current assets REBEE
Fixed assets BEE&E
— Investment properties — REWHE 12,046,550 13,341,050
— Other properties, plant and equipment  — E % « E L& iE 61,687 64,960
12,108,237 13,406,010
Interest in subsidiaries SR EENGILE L 31,084 31,084
12,139,321 13,437,094
Current assets REBEE
Accounts receivable, deposits and EUERTN « 31 & KT
prepayments 103,359 26,490
Pledged bank deposits EEFIRITIER 2,956 13,147
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 418,078 508,979
524,393 548,616
Current liabilities RBAE
Other payables and accruals HAb R R ERTE A 24,202 21,677
Deposits received 2ET£ 173,511 192,094
Provision for long service payments RHRE®EE 1,747 1,551
Amount due to a subsidiary JE ST BfY BB /A B R IE 4,479 4,482
Lease liabilities HEAaE - 17
Current tax payable INEAFEAS TSR 13,459 14,749
217,398 234,570
Net current assets RBEEFEE 306,995 314,046
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERRBEE 12,446,316 13,751,140
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Bank loan — secured RITER — HEH 200,000 200,000
Government lease premiums payable FENS B 1,722 1,791
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBE R 87,330 78,027
289,052 279,818
NET ASSETS EEFE 12,157,264 13,471,322
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Notes to the Financial Statements B1i§#R &K
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( L% # 51 7R )

27 Company-level Statement of Financial
Position at 31 March 2020 (continued)

271 R=_ZE_FF=F=+—H
EA B EHENB AR R @)

2020 2019
Note $°000 $°000
gz Fr T

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARR#E 23
Share capital [N 23(b) 360,000 360,000
Reserves & 11,797,264 13,111,322
TOTAL EQUITY FERAE 12,157,264 13,471,322

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

29 June 2020.
Cheong Hooi Hong Cheong Kheng Lim
Director Director

28 Immediate Parent and Ultimate Controlling

Party

At 31 March 2020, the Directors consider the immediate parent and
ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Tian Teck Land Limited
and Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited respectively, both
of which are incorporated in Hong Kong. The immediate parent
produces financial statements available for public use and the ultimate
controlling party does not produce financial statements available for

public use.

EFEeN T TF A+ NBZENF

ATEEH o
EZE EZE
EEE B

28 BN RMERAEERS

EXZeRR FEER_ZT_ZTF=A

=+ BANEERSARRRKIEERT DR

RIEWERBARNMKEERAR  MRA
BIERBEMMKIL - EERE AR SRET
HARMPHERE - KRR RNEBRRE
AR ARSI ERE
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Notes to the Financial Statements B#§H&ME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( b4 % # 5l 7R )

29 Possible Impact of Amendments, 29
New Standards and Interpretations Issued
But Not Yet Effective for the Year Ended

31 March 2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA

has issued a number of amendments and a new standard which are

not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2020 and which have

not been adopted in these financial statements. These developments

include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

EEMEREE—ZS-FF
:H:+—E¢$Fﬁ$$
MEVEET ~ FTER RN
AR E
%¢$Wﬁﬁ$%ﬁ5%'§%ﬁﬁ%@@

EEARBE-F-FA=A=t+-ALF
e g e
TBERTAH—TRIRER) - EEAIBLBET
SRR M BIEE -

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after
EUTESSz#%

A EHBEER

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a business

(BRUBRELERDEIRNVET EHHEE

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material

(BEEGTEADE1RNET (EES

FHERDFESIRAERT EAME |

1 January 2020
202051 H1H

1 January 2020
20201 A1H

The adoption of these amendments is unlikely to have a significant

impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Five Year Financial Summary
T FEHMBEBE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( L7 ¥ %l /R )
Results E 5
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
$°000 $'000 $’'000 $'000 $°000
Tt Tt Tt Tt Fr
Revenue N 667,214 661,677 632,541 610,587 588,560
Profit/(loss) from operations REMEME
after valuation changes in BEENLE
investment properties AL (EE) 964,731 (65,928) 246,611 233,750 (829,252)
Finance costs BhE A (2,458) (8,374) (3,140) (4,855) (6,532)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BB ATER,(EE) 962,273 (69,302) 243,471 228,895 (835,784)
Income tax FriS#t (90,904) (89,813) (84,153) (80,410) (77,080)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEEREBRER
attributable to equity AR EE
shareholders of the Company A (EE) 871,369 (159,115) 159,318 148,485 (912,864)
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Five Year Financial Summary ZEHBHE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( A7 ¥ %l 7R )

Assets and Liabilities EENEE

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000

Tt v Tt Tt Fr

Fixed assets FEE 14,724,637 14,103,436 13,832,557 13,564,010 12,257,237

Net current assets MEEEFE 71,289 308,792 314,641 318,777 315,136

14,795,926 14,412,228 14,147,198 13,882,787 12,572,373

Bank loan — secured RITER — B = (200,000 (200,000) (200,000 (200,000)
Government lease premiums FET BT H B

payable (1,980) (1,920) (1,857) (1,791) (1,722)

Lease liabilities HEAE (75) (46) (17) - -

Deferred tax liabilities BELEHIEAE (54,792) (62,298) (70,042) (78,429) (87,748)

NET ASSETS EERE 14,739,079 14,147,964 13,875,282 13,602,567 12,282,903

Share capital [ 360,000 360,000 360,000 360,000 360,000

Reserves EE 14,379,079 13,787,964 13,515,282 13,242,567 11,922,903

TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 14,739,079 14,147,964 13,875,282 13,602,567 12,282,903
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